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APPENDIX A: LOCATION OF CHURCH FURNISHINGS

INTRODUCTORY NOTE

Appendix A records the current locations of the original furnishings of the Wren churches. The furnishings of churches which were demolished, mainly during the
nineteenth century, were often sent to new churches built in the London suburbs (sometimes with the same dedication as the demolished Wren church), or
distributed to other surviving City churches. Recorded here are the font, font cover, pews, pulpit, sounding board, communion table, communion rails, reredos,
and paintings of Moses and Aaron. Church plate, monuments, sword rests, and furnishings installed after the first phase of furnishing are not included here.

Two previous attempts have been made to compile such a list (Harrison and Litton) but both contain errors and omissions. In particular, though Harrison
compiled his list in 1960, he frequently cites churches to which a particular item was transferred even if that church was itself destroyed in the Second World War.
The tables in this appendix apply a colour-coding scheme based on levels of confidence as to whether a particular item survives or does not, as follows:

e  Green text indicates a high degree of confidence in the current location of the specified furnishings based on documentary and photographic sources,

mostly verified by personal inspection.

e Red text indicates a high degree of confidence that the items specified have been destroyed or disposed of in such a manner as makes them untraceable.

Different types of craftsmen are indicated as follows:

C Carver.
J Joiner.
M Mason (e.g. carver of font).
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ALL HALLOWS BREAD STREET

e Furnished, c.1682-88.
o Craftsmen unknown.
e Demolished, 1877.

Creed & Lord’s Prayer from reredos, acanthus
scroll panels.

Pulpit.

Font covet.

“Materials™.

Carvings from communion table.

Font.

Central portion of reredos, scrollwork panels.

CURRENT LOCATION

King Charles-the-Martyr, Tunbridge Wells
(c.1882).

St. Vedast Foster Lane (c.1962), via All Hallows,
Hast India Dock Road, Poplar (1877).

St. Andrew-by-the-Wardrobe, vestry.

All Hallows, East India Dock Road, Poplar,
installed ¢.1902; presumed destroyed, 1942.

SOURCES

Fuller, 78-79. Personal inspection, 2012.

Colvin 1, 928. Survey (Poplar), 147-153. Places. Personal
inspection, 2012.

Personal inspection, 2018.

Colvin 1, 928. Places.

Clarke, 43. Note that Harrison, 73, and Pevsner CC,
132, attribute the fragments at St. Vedast to St.
Matthew Friday Street, q.v.

Colvin 1, 928. Harrison, 66. Unspecific and probably
destroyed. Survey (Poplar) does not mention the font.

Colvin 1, 928. Survey (Poplar), 147-153. Photo of reredos
at Bread Street in Places references Poplar on the
reverse. Separate Places photo of Poplar confirms.
Drawing in Buzlder 10.4.1914, 440.
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ALL HALLOWS BREAD STREET / CONT.

Lot 1: Oak frame & deal seats of pews & reading
desk. Lot 2: Oak paneled framing & capping with
doors & frames as fixed round walls. Lot 3: Oak
paneled front of organ gallery with entablature &
column [singular|, oak paneled & glazed partition
& doors & oak paneled front of side gallery. Lot
4: Panelling, cupboards & doors of vestry, oak
rails & balusters of altar & font enclosure. Lot 5:
Oak staircase to gallery with rail & balusters, deal
paneled frames & seats of gallery pews in both
galleries. Lot 6: Deal flooring & joists under pews
& in vestry.

CURRENT LOCATION

Sold by tender by Messts Fuller, Horsey, Son &
Co, 1 May 1877.

SOURCES

Guildhall. Harrison, 73.
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ALL HALLOWS-THE-GREAT, UPPER
THAMES STREET

e Furnished, 1682-88

e Thomas Powell (J); Francis Woodroffe
& Thomas Thornton (Cs); William
Hammond (M).

e Demolished, 1876-94.

Sounding board, screen, Royal Arms, communion
rails.

Reredos, prescribed texts & other items.

Font, font cover.

Statues of Moses & Aaron (probably by
Hammond), chandelier, parts of font rails, bread
shelves.

Pulpit, some balusters of pulpit stairs.

Marble communion table.

CURRENT LOCATION

St. Margaret Lothbury (soon after 1894).

Fragments remain at Bung Chapel, Halstead,
2

Essex (c.1900).!

Chapel Royal, Hampton Court Palace (via Bung
Chapel).

St. Michael Paternoster Royal (c.1968).

Churchill Memorial, Westminster College, Fulton,
Missouri, USA, (2003); pulpit via St. Margaret
Lothbury (c.1894) and then St. Paul’s
Hammersmith.

Top lost some time before 1871; kneeling angel in
churchyard, 1871, subsequently lost.

SOURCES

Clarke, 42. Harrison, 72. Litten, 54. Pevsner CC,
100. Places. RCHME, 73. Personal inspection,
2017.

Harrison, 61. Personal inspection, 2013.

Thurley, 369.

Clarke, 43. Harrison, 72, says bread shelves are in
vestry. Pevsner CC, 117-118. Personal inspection,
2017.

Birch, 131. Daniell, opposite 206. Diocese.
Pevsner London North West, 205.

Builder, 4.11.1871.

!'The “Bung Chapel,” built in 1883 and rebuilt in 1902, served the Adams Brewery in Halstead, Essex. I am grateful to the current owners for supplying me with photos of the chapel before it was converted into a

private residence.
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ALL HALLOWS-THE-GREAT, UPPER
THAMES STREET / CONT.

Site, pews, et al.

Figure of Charity on gallery front.

ALL HALLOWS LOMBARD STREET

e Furnished, 1693-95

e VWilliam Grey & John Mitchell (Js);
Richard Sanders (C, possibly for pews
only).

e Demolished, 1938-9.

Reredos, pulpit, sounding board, doorcases,
communion table, font, font cover, smaller sword
rest (north side), wardens’ pews with lion &
unicorn, carved acanthus scrolls from original
box pews, bread shelves, hat-rests, charity board,
candelabra.

JII Royal Arms (9’ tall).

Prescribed texts.

Pews.

CURRENT LOCATION
Sold by tender by Messts Debenham, Tewson,
Farmer & Bridgewater, 5 August 1894.

Incorporated in lectern at St. Michael Paternoster
Royal, stolen ¢.1990.

CURRENT LOCATION

All Hallows Twickenham (1939-40).

All Hallows Twickenham in bell chamber (1939-
40).

All Hallows Twickenham either side of reredos

(1939-40).

Removed before 1896.

SOURCES

Harrison, 73. City Press, 6.8.1894.

Pevsner CC, 118.

SOURCES

Birch, 135. Litten, 53. Pevsner CC, 40. Personal
inspection (2012).

Diocese.

Diocese.

Birch, 135.
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CHRIST CHURCH NEWGATE

e Furnished, c.1687ff.

e Edward Pearce (C). Other craftsmen
unknown.

e Gutted 1940, partial shell survives.
Font cover.

Original pulpit with relief panels.

Pulpit from Temple Church (c.1684).

All other furnishings.

ST. ALBAN WOOD STREET

e Furnished, c.1684-86.

e Edward Marshall, John Mitchell (Js);
John Baker, Peter Cheltenham,
William Mildman (Cs).

e Gutted 1940, demolished, 1955, except
for tower.

All furnishings.

CURRENT LOCATION

St. Sepulchre, Holborn (saved, 1940).

Broken up & panels incorporated into choir stalls.

Destroyed, 1940.

Acquired 1840. Probably destroyed, 1940.

Destroyed, 1940.

CURRENT LOCATION

Destroyed, 1940.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 125.

Cobb, 86.

Cobb, 86. Disputed destruction: Kent, 72, says the
pulpit survived but this seems unlikely.

Jeffery, 194.

SOURCES

Kent, 61.
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Pews.

Replaced ¢.1818.

Baxter, 15.

Decalogue, Creed and Lotd’s Prayer, readet’s &
clerk’s desks, west gallery.

Removed by S.S. Teulon, 1870-72.

Baxter, 22-24.

All other furnishings.

Destroyed, 1941.

Kent, 78. Pevsner CC, 56.

All furnishings.

Destroyed, 1940.

Pevsner CC, 59.
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ST. ANNE & ST. AGNES

e Furnished 1680-82.

e John Fuller, Thomas Page (Js); Peter
Cheltenham (C); Thomas Hill (M).

e Severely damaged, 1940.

Dootcase, reredos.

Font, font cover.

Pews, pulpit, west gallery.

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ.

St. Vedast Foster Lane (¢.1963).

Removed by Ewan Christian, 1888.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 60-61. Personal inspection, 2012.

Clarke, 43. Pevsner CC, 131-132. Personal
inspection, 2012.

Places (pre-1888 photograph & pew plan).

223



ST. ANTHOLIN?

e Furnished, c.1682-85.

e VWilliam Grey (J, pulpit), Thomas
Cooper, Nathaniel Miles, Zachary
Taylor (Js); Jonathan Maine &

(probably) Thomas Cartwright (Cs).

e Demolished, 1875.

Pulpit.

Reredos.

Wrought iron communion rails (1682-83).

Font and font covet.

“Materials™.

CURRENT LOCATION

St. Peter & St. Paul, Blandford Forum, Dortset
(1879).

S.S. Antony & Silas, Ivydale Road, Nunhead via
St. Anthony’s Nunhead (c.1878).

Moved to St. Matthew Spring Gardens
(demolished, 1903); presumed lost/destroyed.

Lost.

Sold by tender by Messts Fuller, Horsey, Son &
Co, 19 August 1874.

SOURCES

Harrison, 61. Builder 10.1.1880, 55.

Clarke, 208. Harrison, 66. Personal inspection,
2012.

Birch, 88.

No mention found.

Harrison, 73.

2 RCHME, 83, states that the west doorcase at St. Mary Aldermary is from St. Antholin but gives no source. The doorcase matches the desctiption of the Aldermary doorcase in Hatton, vol. 2, 365 and, absent further
information relating to St. Antholin, should be assumed to be original to Aldermary.
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ST. AUGUSTINE WATLING STREET

e Furnished, c.1683-87.

e Jonathan Maine (C). Other craftsmen
unknown.

e Destroyed, 1940.

Panels in pulpit.
Gallery staircase.

All other furnishings.

ST. BARTHOLOMEW-BY-THE-EXCHANGE

e Furnished, 1679-84.

e Thomas Poultney & Mr Massey (Js);
John Baker, Richard Cleere & William
Emmett (Cs).

e Demolished, 1840-1.

Font, font cover, pulpit.

Reredos, communion table, doorcases, panelling,

All other furnishings.

CURRENT LOCATION

St. Anne & St. Agnes.
Room 6. Geffrye Museum (1914).

Destroyed, 1941.

CURRENT LOCATION

St. Bartholomew, Craven Park Road, Tottenham
via St. Bartholomew, Moor Lane (demolished,

1902).
St. Giles Cripplegate (north aisle) destroyed, 1941
via St. Bartholomew, Moor Lane (demolished,

1902).

Lost.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 61. Personal inspection, 2012.
Architectural Review, 49, (1922), 59, 61.

Jeffery, 211.

SOURCES

Harrison, 69 (also mentions sounding board, not
currently present). Pevsner London North, 571.
Personal inspection, 2012.

Harrison, 71. Places, RCHME, 98-100.
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ST. BENET FINK

e Furnished, 1673-75.

e William Grey (J); Edward Pearce (C);
Thomas Cartwright (M).

e Demolished, 1842.

Reredos, Moses & Aaron, separated into
components.

Font, font cover, pulpit, communion table, other
furnishings.

CURRENT LOCATION

Chapel, Emanuel [sic] School Wandsworth via
Emanuel Hospital Chapel.

Some stored at Guildhall ¢.1893, probably now

lost.

3 From personal inspection, 2012, while the panels (including Moses & Aaron) may be original, the surrounding joinery may not be.

SOURCES

Pevsner London South, 703. Personal inspection,
20123

Harrison, 68, says the pulpit & communion table
were stored at Guildhall upon demolition of
Emanuel Hospital Chapel & later installed at
Emanuel School. If so, they are not there now.
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ST. BENET GRACECHURCH STREET

e Furnished, 1684-86.
e John Mitchell (J); unknown carver.
e Demolished, 1867-8.

Pulpit.

Dootcases.
Font covet.

Font.

Stone, brickwork, lead, oak carvings, floor-boards,
turret clock.

CURRENT LOCATION

St. Olave, Hart Street.

Lytes Cary House, Somerset.
Christ Church, Fulham.

St. George in the Hast via St. Dionis Backchurch,
destroyed, 1941.

Sold by tender by Messts Fuller, Horsey, Son &
Co, 1 May 1877, as a single lot for £600.

SOURCES

Clarke, 20. Harrison, 73. Kent, 96. Pevsner CC,
121. Personal inspection, 2016.

Harrison, 61.
Clarke, 62. Places. Personal inspection, 2012.

Conflicting accounts. http://stgitehistory.org.uk/
says the St. Benet font went to St. George-in-the-
East via St. Dionis Backchurch. Places 1941
photo matches 1827 description in Allen, vol. 3,
181. Harrison, 69, and Litten, 56, are probably
incotrect in saying that it went to All Hallows

Lombard Street in 1869 & thence to Twickenham.

Harrison, 73, citing City Press 19.10.1867 &
26.10.1867.
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ST. BENET PAUL’S WHARF
e Furnished, c.1681-85.

e Unknown craftsmen.

Sounding board, font, font cover, Royal Arms,
communion rails, communion table, pulpit,
reredos.

Pews.

Sanctuary chairs (gift of Sir Leoline Jenkins 1682).

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ (sounding board now attached to vestibule
ceiling; its support now incorporated in a lectern).

Cut down, probably late nineteenth century.

Stolen, 1972.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 70. Personal inspection, 2015.

Original pews still extant in John Clayton drawing
of 1848. Personal inspection, 2015.

http:/ /www.stbenetwelshchurch.org.uk/pages/St
Benet_Brief History.pdf.

228



ST. BRIDE

e Furnished, 1675-81.

e VWilliam Grey (J, pulpit, sounding
board, reredos, pews, N&S galleries)
& Thomas Kennard, John Symes (Js,
pews), William Emmett (C, reredos,
pulpit sounding board).

e Destroyed, 1940

Reredos, sounding board.

Pews.

Communion table and wrought iron communion
rails.

All remaining furnishings, including font & pulpit.

CURRENT LOCATION

Removed by John Deykes, 1822-23.

Reduced in height, probably by Basil Champneys,
1885-86 or 1892-93.

Removed by H.M. Fletcher, 1932-34.

Destroyed, 1940.

SOURCES

Survey (Bride), 53-54.

Survey (Bride), 55.

Survey (Bride), 46.

Neither Pevsner CC nor Survey (Bride) mention any
survivals.
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ST. CHRISTOPHER-LE-STOCKS

e Furnished, 1671-74.

e VWilliam Grey & Mr Eden (Js);
Stanbrough (M &/or C).

e Demolished, 1782.

Reredos, communion rail.

Moses & Aaron.

Pulpit.

All other furnishings.

CURRENT LOCATION

St. Vedast Foster Lane via St. Mary Magdalen,
Great Bursted, Essex.

St. Margaret Lothbury.

St. Nicholas, Canewdon, Essex.

Lost.

SOURCES

Clarke, 43. Harrison, 61. RCHME Essex vol 4.

Litten, 68. Pevsner CC, 131-132. Personal
inspection, 2011.

Harrison, 72. Pevsner CC, 101. Personal
inspection, 2011.

Places.
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Pulpit.

In situ.

Pevsner Westminster, 291. Personal inspection,
2014.

Communion table with porphyry top.

Removed some time before 1925.

RCHME West London, online edition.

Pews.

Cut down some time before 1925.

RCHME West London, online edition.

All other furnishings.

Destroyed, 1941.
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ST. CLEMENT EASTCHEAP CURRENT LOCATION SOURCES

e Furnished, 1685-89.
e Thomas Poultney (J); Jonathan Maine

©.
Four doorcases, font, font cover, Royal Arms, In situ. Pevsner CC, 79. Personal inspection, 2012.

pulpit, sounding board, bread shelves,
communion rails, communion table, reredos.

Pews. Remodelled by Butterfield 1872. Sold 2013. Diocese. Pevsner CC, 79.

South and west galleries. Removed by Butterfield 1872. Clatke, 40.
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ST. DIONIS BACKCHURCH

e Furnished, 1673-c76.
e VWilliam Grey & John Blunkett (Js);
John Bullymore (C).
e Demolished, 1878.
Font, pulpit.
Royal Arms.

Outermost bays of reredos with columns, carved
work, compass pediments.

Panelling, two doorcases.

Communion table.

All other furnishings.

CURRENT LOCATION

St. Dionis, Parsons Green, Fulham.

St. Edmund King & Martyr, possibly via St.
Dionis Hall.

Churchill Memorial, Westminster College, Fulton,
Missouri, USA. Bays from reredos reworked as
doorcases.

St. Paul’s Cathedral, south choir aisle vestry (1973)

via St. Dionis Hall, Lime Street (demolished,
1967).

Allegedly moved to St. Dionis, Parsons Green,
Fulham but now lost.

Lost.

SOURCES

Pevsner London North West, 232. Personal
inspection, 2012.

Pevsner CC, 84. Places. Personal inspection, 2012.

Hauer, 293, 384, 397, incorrectly termed “vestry
screens”. Comparison with Places confirms they
are from the St. Dionis reredos.

St. Paul’s Cathedral archive.
http://spc.adlibhosting.com/detail.aspx. Record:
SPCAA/D/11/17/(1-37).

Harrison, 64, says that the communion table “is
said to be” at St. Dionis, Fulham, implying he was
not convinced. Unaccounted for in 2012 (personal
inspection).
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Reredos, pulpit, sounding board, communion
table, communion rails, pews.

Sold, 1817-19.

Rogers, 193.

Font.

Removed and sold, ¢.1817. Later recovered from
a Warwickshire garden & returned to St. Dunstan.
Destroyed, 1940.

Young, 89.
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ST. EDMUND KING & MARTYR

e Furnished, c.1674-76.
e Thomas Creecher (J). Other craftsmen
unknown.

Four doorcases, font, font cover, churchwardens’
pews, pulpit, reader’s desk, finials from sounding
board (now mounted on choir stalls), communion

rails, communion table, reredos.

Conical sounding board suspended from ceiling.

Pews.

Royal Arms (Queen Anne, painted glass).

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ.

Removed, probably between 1827 and 1838.

Cut down by Butterfield, 1864. Removed at time
of conversion to London Centre for Spirituality,
2001.

Destroyed, 1941.

SOURCES

Clarke, 29. Pevsner CC, 83-84. Personal
inspection, 2014.

Hatton, vol. 1, 239. Mentioned in Allen, 111, 688
(1827) but not in Godwin (1838).

Diocese.

Clarke, 29.
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ST. GEORGE BOTOLPH LANE

e Furnished, 1672-c75.

e George Hathaway, Mr Holloway &
Andrew Hazell (Js). Other craftsmen
unknown.

e Demolished, 1904.
Carved work from reredos.
Royal arms, two sword rests.
Pulpit.
Reredos (centre panels without pediment), font,

font cover, possibly panelling in vestry.

Communion rails.

Communion table.

CURRENT LOCATION

St. Matthew, Wandsworth Bridge Road.
St. Mary-at-Hill (but in storage since fire of 1988).

Christ Church, Lufkin, Texas (since 2010), via
Christ Church, Fulham.

St. John, Algernon Road, West Hendon.

Christ Church, Fulham, removed 1990 in
reordering; in storage in the attic (2016).

Said to have been moved to St. Silas, Penton
Street. Not present in 2016. Presumed lost.

SOURCES

Clarke, 61. Places.
Harrison, 72.

Diocese. Pevsner London North West, 231.

Harrison, 69. Pevsner London North, 157.

Diocese (letter from David Faull, Diocesan
Registrar, to Rev. C H May, Vicar, 17.4.1990).
Email correspondence with Michael Lusty, Christ
Church Site Manager, 10.8.2016.

Colvin 1, 929. Harrison, 66. Email

correspondence with Father Reyner Wakeling,
vicar of St. Silas, 9.8.2016.
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ST. JAMES GARLICKHYTHE

e Furnished, 1682-86.

e Jonathan Fuller & Robert Layton (Js);
William Newman (C); Christopher
Kempster (M).

Font, font cover, churchwardens’ pews,
communion table.

Pulpit.

Reredos.

Pews.

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ.

Christ Church, Chelsea (1870).

Probably removed, 1815.

Reduced in height, 1901.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 93. Personal inspection, 2010.

Harrison, 64. Litten, 62. Pevsner London North
West, 558. Personal inspection, 2012.

Compare Hatton, vol. I, 296 & Malcolm, vol. IV,
7 with Allen, vol. I1I, 753, suggesting that a more
elaborate reredos was replaced by the present
simpler one between 1807 (Malcolm) and 1827
(Allen). RCHME, 191, calls the reredos
“modern”.

Rogers, 55.
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ST. JAMES PICCADILLY

e Furnished, c.1684-86.

e Grinling Gibbons (C & M, reredos &
font). Other craftsmen unknown.

e Largely destroyed, 1940.

Font, marble communion rails, communion table
(altered), reredos.

Marble panels in communion rails.

Pews, pulpit, sounding board.

Font covet.

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ.

Removed as decayed, 1821. Replaced in bronze.

Presumed lost. Some or all possibly moved in
1822 to Berwick Street chapel (built ¢.1708 as
chapel of ease to St. James. Chapel demolished
¢.1835 & replaced by St. Luke’s which closed,
1935).

“Lost”.

SOURCES

Pevsner Westminster, 586. Survey (St. James), online
edition. Personal inspection 2014.

Pevsner Westminster, 586. Survey (St. James), online
edition.

Survey (St. James), online edition.

Pevsner Westminster, 586.
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ST. LAWRENCE JEWRY

e Furnished, 1676-79.
e Edward Pearce (C); Richard Kedge

-
e Destroyed, 1940.

Reredos.

North gallery.

All other furnishings.

ST. MAGNUS-THE-MARTYR

e Furnished, 1675-82.
e VWilliam Grey & Mr Massey (Js); Mr
Thomson (C/M, possibly font only).

Doorcases (remodelled & repositioned), font, font
cover, pulpit, sounding board, communion rails,

communion table, reredos (adapted).

Pews.

CURRENT LOCATION

Removed between 1828 & 1838.

Removed by Butterfield, 1866-67.

Destroyed, 1940.

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ.

Moved to St. Mark’s, Kennington, 1924-206;
damaged, 1940; then discarded.

SOURCES

Deduced by contrasting the descriptions in Allen
(1828), vol. 3, 371, & Godwin (1838), n.p.

Pevsner CC, 96.

Pevsner CC, 95.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 98-99. Personal inspection 2013.

Cotrespondence in the possession of the parish.
Photographs in the Lambeth Council archive.
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ST. MARGARET LOTHBURY CURRENT LOCATION SOURCES

e Furnished, 1687ff.
e Unknown craftsmen.

Font, pulpit, communion table, reredos. In situ. Pevsner CC, 100-101.# Personal inspection 2016.

Fronts of reader’s desk & clerk’s desk. Probably incorporated in lectern and a chest in Personal inspection, 2016.
the vestibule respectively.

Sounding board. Removed “some years back” before 1896, Birch, 132.

possibly converted into a table.
Pews. Removed between 1835 and 1896. 1835 pew plan. Birch, 133.
Communion rails. Removed c.1894; replaced by rails from All Comparison of photographs in Places.>

Hallows-the-Great.

Royal Arms, Biblical texts in frames hung round Removed. Mentioned in Hatton, 324; no longer present.
the church.
Font cover. Stolen during the 1950s. Conversation with Rev. Jeremy Crossley, rector of

St. Margaret Lothbury, 2015.

South gallery (1691). Removed, 1881. Pevsner CC, 100.

4 Pevsner CC, 100, incotrectly attributes the font to St. Olave Jewry. The font matches the very precise description in Hatton, 324, and should be consideted as original to Lothbury. The St. Olave font is now at St. Olave,
Woodberry Down (St. Olave Jewry q.v.).

An illustration in Birch, 131, and photograph in Daniell, opposite 206, show that the pulpit from All Hallows-the-Great was installed at Lothbury for a petiod before being transferred to St. Paul, Hammersmith. The current
pulpit matches the description in Hatton, 324, and must therefore have been stored in the intervening period.

5 Pevsner CC, 100-101, makes no overt attribution for the communion rails, thereby implying they are original to Lothbury. Comparison of photographs in Places demonstrates they are from All Hallows-the-Great. Their
double spiral matches that of the screen.
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ST. MARGARET PATTENS

e Furnished c.1684-86.
e Craftsmen unknown.

Font, font cover, churchwardens’ pews, Royal
Arms, pulpit.

Pews.

Sounding board, original reredos.

Lion and unicorn.

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ (font cover not on display).

Reduced in height, 1879; timbers re-used for
benches & choir stalls.

Removed, 1879.

Stolen, 1994.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 102. Personal inspection, 2013.

Builder, 15.11.1879, 1272. Clarke, 40. Pevsner CC,
102.

Builder, 15.11.1879, 1272. Wren Society, X, Plate
XXVIII (based on an 1848 drawing by John
Clayton) shows original reredos. 1840 Thomas
Shepherd drawing (Collage) shows pews, pulpit,
sounding board, lion & unicorn.

http://www.stmatgaretpattens.otg/ pages.php?
pid=7. Replicas now in place.
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ST. MARTIN LUDGATE

e Furnished 1680-84.

e VWilliam Grey, Thomas Athew, Mr
Draper & Mr Poulden (Js); William
Emmett, William Newman & Richard
Cleere® (Cs).

Four doorcases, font, font cover, pulpit, readet’s
& clerk’s desks (adapted), communion rails,

communion table, reredos.”

Back panel of pulpit.

Pews.

Sounding board.

Royal Arms.

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ.

Detached from pulpit when sounding board was
removed but on display (upside down) as at May
2012. Currently stored.

Probably cut down by Ewan Christian, 1892-95.

Removed some time before 1875, possibly ¢.1824.

Lost.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 103-104. Personal inspection 2016.

Personal inspection, 2012. Not subsequently on

display.

Original pews visible in 1875 photograph in
LAMAS. Pevsner CC, 103.

1875 photograph in LAMAS. Pevsner CC, 103.

The present Royal Arms are Victorian.

¢ Pevsner CC mentions a Mr. Cooper as carver alongside Newman though this is probably not the case. Cooper is recorded in the churchwardens’ accounts as receiving monies owed to Richard Cleere (died ¢.1682) as his
executor, between May 1683 and April 1684: see LMA/P69/MTN1/B/003/MS01313/001, fols. 212r., 214¢., 215v.. A William Cooper also received monies owed to Richard Cleere at St Bartholomew-by-the-Exchange in the
same period: see LMA/P69/BAT1/B/006/MS04383/001, n.p., Y/E March 1683.

7'The font is inscribed and was made for the parish tabernacle in 1673 while the church was still being built. Pevsner CC, 104.
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ST. MARY ABCHURCH CURRENT LOCATION SOURCES

e Furnished, c.1682-90.

e Thomas Creecher (pews), William
Grey (pulpit) & Thomas Powell (Js);
William Emmett (font cover, Royal
Arms, N&S doorcases), Grinling
Gibbons (reredos), Almandy Howart
(communion rails & table), William
Newman (pews) (Cs); William
Kempster (font) (M).

Font, font cover, font rails, poor box, west gallery, In situ. Pevsner CC, 105. Personal inspection 2015.
Royal Arms, two doorcases, churchwardens’

pews, pews against north & south walls, pulpit,
sounding board, communion rails, communion
table, reredos.8

Fronts of readet’s desk and clerk’s desk, Incorporated in choir stalls and pew-backs. Personal inspection, 2015.
scrollwork panels from pews.

Pews. Removed or adapted, 1878-9. Clarke, 39. Pevsner CC, 105. RCHME, 43.

8 RCHME, Plate 87, shows that the communion rails were removed at one stage. Comparison with the earlier photograph in Birch, Plate XLII, suggests that the present communion rails are the original ones re-instated.
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Pediment to reredos, double pews in middle aisle. = Removed by John Wallin, 1844. Hauer, 293.
Reredos, pulpit, font, pews. Removed by Edmund Woodthorpe, 1881. Hauer, 309.
All remaining furnishings. Destroyed, 1940. Hauer, 354.
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ST. MARY ALDERMARY

e Furnished, 1681-c85.
e Thomas Bayley & Thomas Powell
(Js); Jonathan Maine (C).

West doorcase, font, pulpit, communion rails
(probably re-used as font rails), communion
table.?

Reredos, communion rails, reading desk, clerk’s
desk, sounding board, west gallery, pews,
panelling, marble paving, sanctuary steps.

Paintings in blocked windows on north aisle wall
(William Thompson, ¢.1703).

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ.

Sold by Messrs Tress & Innes, 1 April 1876.

Destroyed, 1823.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 107-108. But note Tress & Innes sale
particulars include communion rails. Personal
inspection 2017.

Clarke, 38. Harrison, 74.

Wilson: “These paintings being thought in bad
taste, were obliterated during the repair of 1823,
and the blanks coloured like the rest of the wall.”
Opened up & glazed by Tress 1840.

9 RCHME, 83, states that the west doorcase at St. Mary Aldermary is from St. Antholin but gives no soutce. The doorcase matches Hatton, vol. 11, 365 description of the Aldermary doorcase and, absent further information

relating to St. Antholin, should be assumed to be original to Aldermary.
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ST. MARY-LE-BOwW

e Furnished, 1673-c77.

e William Cleere & Thomas Whyting
(Js). Carver unknown.

e Destroyed, 1941.

Font.

Gilded volute from external clock.
Sounding board.

3-decker pulpit.

Pews, north, south & west galleries.
Reredos (mostly of 1706).

All other furnishings.

CURRENT LOCATION

Given to St. Alban’s, Westcliffe-on-Sea, Essex
1899.

In vestry.
Removed some time between 1828 & 1852.

Components separated by James Pedley, 1867;
destroyed, 1941.

Removed by James Pedley, 1867.
Remodelled, 1881; destroyed, 1941.

Destroyed, 1941.

SOURCES

Harrison, 61. RCHME, 80.

Byrne & Bush, 107. Personal inspection, 2015.

Compare Allen, vol. 3, 437 & Builder, 23.10.1852.

Builder, 30.11.1867.

Byrne & Bush, 105-6. Builder, 30.11.1867.
Byrne & Bush, 106. Pevsner CC, 108.

Pevsner CC, 108.
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ST. MARY-AT-HILL

e Furnished, c.672-c78.

e William Cleere (J). Other craftsmen
unknown.

e Extensive fire damage 1988.

Doorcase, west gallery, communion table, font.

Other furnishings (much adapted, mainly by
William Gibbs Rogers, 1848-9).

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ.

In storage since fire of 1988.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 112. Personal inspection, 2015.

Diocese: extensive fire & water damage;
approximately 1/5 pews lost; sounding board
mostly burned. Personal inspection 2013.
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ST. MARY MAGDALEN, OLD FISH STREET

e Furnished c.1685-87.
e Richard Kedge (J); Jonathan Maine

©.
e Extensive fire damage 1886,
demolished, 1893.
Font bowl.

Wainscot, probably from south gallery.

Sounding board.

Pews, pulpit

All other furnishings.

CURRENT LOCATION

All Hallows London Wall.

St. Martin Ludgate, incorporated into new pews,

c.1892-95.

Destroyed, 18806: pews by fire, pulpit by falling
timbers.

A little damaged by fire, 1886, but left exposed to
rot.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 52.

Pevsner CC, 104. Places, 1886.

Harrison, 72.

Builder, 11.12.1886, 839-840.

Builder, 11.12.1886, 839-840. 1886 photos in
Places show organ case, pulpit stairs and reredos
largely intact after the fire.
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ST. MARY SOMERSET

e Furnished, 1695-98.
e Samuel Port (J); Jonathan Maine (C).
e Demolished, 1869, except tower.

Pulpit.

Half of font cover.

Font, communion table, chest.

Communion table.

All other furnishings.

CURRENT LOCATION

Holy Trinity Hoxton (possibly via St. Mary
Hoxton).

Holy Trinity Hoxton (possibly via St. Mary
Hoxton); used as corbel for a statue of the Virgin
Mary.

St. Mary Hoxton; destroyed, 1940/41.

St. Nicholas Cole Abbey; presumed destroyed,
1941.

Lost.

SOURCES

Harrison, 66.

Diocese. Places.

Colvin 1, 930.

Harrison, 73. RCHME, 174.
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ST. MATTHEW FRIDAY STREET

e Furnished, 1684-88.

e Richard Kedge (J); Roger Humphries
(pews only) & Edward Pearce (Cs).

e Closed, 1883, demolished, 1886.

Reredos.

Font, font cover.

Pulpit.

Communion table (fragments).

Communion rails.

Pews.

Royal Arms, lion & unicorn.

CURRENT LOCATION

Polesden Lacey, Surrey (c.1906). Sold by Fuller,
Horsey & Son (1883) to Sir Hubert von
Herkomar.

St. Andrew-by-the-Wardrobe via St. Clement’s
Fulham.

St. Andrew-by-the-Wardrobe via St. Peter’s,
Reporton Road.

Installed at St. Vedast Foster Lane by Blomfield,
1885-86. Destroyed, 1940.

Cut down and panels re-used, 1862; sold, 1883
(see immediately below).

Schoolhouse adjacent to St. Vedast Foster Lane,
presumed destroyed 1940.

SOURCES

Harrison, 70. Kenworthy-Browne. Personal
inspection, 2012.

Pevsner CC, 59.

Harrison, 64. Pevsner CC, 59. Personal inspection,
2015.

Harrison, 73. Jeffery, 18. Pevsner CC, 132.
However, Clarke, 43, attributes the fragments to

All Hallows Bread Street, q.v.

RCHME, 112-113. Jeffery, 18-19.

Sparrow Sampson, 381.

RCHME, 4. Harrison, 73 & Pevsner CC, 132 state
that the present Royal Arms in the church are
from St. Matthew; however, they are cleatly post-
War (personal inspection, 2014).
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ST. MATTHEW FRIDAY STREET / CONT. CURRENT LOCATION SOURCES

Lot 1: Wall panelling, 6 pairs of doors & 1 single Sold by tender by Messts Fuller, Horsey, Son & Guildhall.
(not outer doors), oak panelled front of organ Co, 1883.

gallery. Lot 2: ““The Handsome Carved Oak Altar

Piece with Corinthian Columns richly gilt, the

borders and panels richly carved in fruit and

flowers.” Lot 3: Gallery (not front) with staircase,

rails & balusters, deal pew frames from gallery,

gallery walls & vestry; deal staircase to side gallery;

deal flooring & joists of church floor & vestry

floor.
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ST. MICHAEL BASSISHAW

e Furnished, 1678-80.

e John Blinto, Robert Christmas &
Francis Ragg (Js). Other craftsmen
unknown.

e Closed 1893, demolished, 1900.

Plaster Royal Arms & Corporation of London
Arms.

Part of reredos.

Font and font covet.

Wooden Stuart Royal Arms.

Dootcases.

All other furnishings.

CURRENT LOCATION

Guildhall, LLondon.

St. Lawrence Jewry, south wall of nave, presumed
destroyed, 1940.

St. Mary’s, Islington, presumed destroyed, 1940.

Lost.

SOURCES

Personal inspection, 2012.

Harrison, 61, (citing Buzlder, 28.4.1900) but no ref
on St. Mary’s website, Pevsner Hants or Listed
Buildings database.

Harrison, 68. Places. SS Andrew & Michael
demolished ¢.1986 & united with Christ Church,

East Greenwich.

Harrison, 71. Litten, 60 & 69. RCHME 63.

Harrison, 66.
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ST. MICHAEL CORNHILL

e Furnished, 1671-73.

e VWilliam Cleere & Mr Thwaite (Js); Mr

Richardson & Richard Cleere (Cs).

Font bowl, communion table, paintings of Moses
& Aaron from original reredos retained in Scott’s

marble reredos, four cherub heads from organ
case.

Communion rails.

Reredos, adapted as a bookcase.

All other furnishings.

ST. MICHAEL CROOKED LANE

e Furnished, c.1688-90.

e Thomas Creecher & John Mitchell
(Js); William Newman (C).

e Demolished, 1831.

All furnishings.

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ.

Removed by Butterfield, 1857-60; now at St.
Lawrence, Great Waldingfield, Suffolk.

Removed by Butterfield, 1857-60; now at Old
Rectory, Great Waldingfield, Suffolk.

Destroyed by Butterfield, 1857-60.

CURRENT LOCATION

Lost.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 116-117.

Pevsner CC, 116. Personal inspection, 2012.

Pevsner CC, 116. Personal inspection, 2012.

Pevsner CC, 116.

SOURCES

Colvin 1, 930: “... were offered for sale to the
Commissioners for Building New Churches in
1832 (Church Commissioners File 21744, 41/27
(Part 6). Their fate is unknown.”
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ST. MICHAEL PATERNOSTER ROYAL

e Furnished, c.1689ff.
e Craftsmen unknown.
e Extensive damage 1944.

Royal Arms, pulpit, sounding board, fragments of
communion rails, reredos.

Pews.

Font (given in 1700 by Abraham Jordan).

Pediment of reredos.

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ.

Reduced in height 1886 (Butterfield). Some
destroyed, 1944.
Presumed discarded by Butterfield, 1865.

Removed (probably in 1820 at the time of James
Elmes’ restoration).

SOURCES

Kent, 88. Pevsner CC, 118. Personal inspection,
2012.

Rogers, 81. Pevsner CC, 118. Places.

Pevsner CC, 118.

Pevsner CC, 118.
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ST. MICHAEL QUEENHITHE

e Furnished, 1679-c.81.

e Robert Layton (J). Other craftsmen
unknown.

e Demolished, 1876.

Royal Arms, pews re-fashioned as choir stalls,
pew-back screens, Lion/Unicorn, pulpit, sounding
board, choir stalls & their backs, communion rails,
communion table, 2 doorcases (re-fashioned as
screens).

Font.

Painted canvas reredos depicting Moses & Aaron
supported by angels (allegedly repaired by
Thornhill 1721).

Lot 1: Oak frames & deal seats of pews in N side
of centre aisle. Lot 2: Oak frames & deal seats of
pews in S side of centre aisle. Lot 3: Oak panelled
framing & capping with doors & frames fixed to
N, S & E walls. Lot 4: Oak panelled & glazed
partition & doors, panelling of W lobby. Lot 5:
Deal flooring & joists under pews & lobby. Lot 6:
Oak panelling of front of gallery, with entablature,
panels from pews & walls, floor joists, oak
staircase & rail, 4 wrought iron supports. Lot 7:
Oak staircase in tower, deal panelling, painted &
grained panelling in rom above vestry, vestry
fittings inc veined marble chimney piece.

CURRENT LOCATION

St. James Gatlickhythe.

St. Michael Camden, then “disposed of” by
Bodley, ¢.1900.

Destroyed by workmen’s carelessness, 1823.

Sold by tender for £200 by Messts Fuller, Horsey,
Son & Co, 11 April 1876.

SOURCES

Clarke, 35 & 52. Harrison, 71. Niven, 41. Pevsner
CC, 93. Personal inspection, 2010.

Harrison, 67 (citing City Press 31.3.1877, 5, col 3).
Litten, 60.

Hatton, 426. Godwin, n.p.

Guildhall; £200 figure is from Harrison, 74 -
unclear if these were the proceeds of all lots or
not.
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ST. MICHAEL WOOD STREET

e Furnished, c.673-c80.
e John Harris (J); Thomas Hill (M).

e Demolished, 1897.

Moses & Aaron.

Royal Arms.

Communion table.

Pews.

Font, font cover.

Lectern, panels in the reredos.

CURRENT LOCATION

St. Anne & St. Agnes via St. George-the-Martyr,
Southwark.

St. George-the-Martyr, Southwark.

Moved to St. Alban Wood Street, presumed
destroyed, 1940.

Removed in 1887-88 reordering.
Lost.

St. Mark’s, Kennington via St. George-the-Martyr,
Southwark; presumed destroyed, 1940.

SOURCES

Harrison, 67. Pevsner CC, 61.

Harrison, 67.

RCHME, 90. Harrison, 71.

Huelin, 51.
No location identified.

Harrison, 66.
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ST. MILDRED BREAD STREET

e Furnished, c.683ff.

e Roger Davies & William Cleere (font
cover) (Js). Other craftsmen unknown.

e Destroyed, 1940.

Font cover, carved figure of Time (1682-83)
above vestry door, Lion & Unicorn on east
columns.

All other furnishings.

ST. MILDRED POULTRY

e Furnished, c.676-c82.

e Matthew Williams (J); Edward Pearce
(©).

e Demolished, 1872.

Font, font cover, pulpit (with carving of a ship),
possibly communion table.

All other furnishings.

CURRENT LOCATION

St. Anne & St. Agnes.

Destroyed, 1940.

CURRENT LOCATION

St. Paul’s, Finsbury, destroyed, 1940.

Lost.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 61. Personal inspection, 2013.

SOURCES

Colvin 1, 930. Harrison, 64-65. Huelin, 53. Places.
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ST. NICHOLAS COLE ABBEY CURRENT LOCATION

e Furnished c.1675-78.

e Richard Kedge (J).!° Other craftsmen
unknown.

e Gutted 1941.

Fragments of reredos incorporated in west screen,  In situ.
Royal Arms, font cover, pulpit, parts of
communion rails, acanthus scrollwork from pews.

Pews. Removed by W. Hudson, 1874.

10 Pevsnet’s source for the attribution of the joinery to Kedge is unclear. The parish records are lost.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 119. Personal inspection, 2016.

Builder, 30.5.1874.
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ST. OLAVE JEWRY CURRENT LOCATION

e Furnished, 1674-79.
e Valentine Houseman (J); Edward
Pearce & John Shorthose (Cs).

e Demolished, 1891.

Royal Arms. St. Andrew-by-the-Wardrobe.

Communion rails (reused as base of south aisle St. Margaret Lothbury, in south aisle.

screen, communion table, centre part of reredos.

Font, font cover, pulpit.!! St. Olave’s, Woodbetrry Down.
Sounding board. Removed some time before 1883.
Other furnishings. Lost.

1 Pevsner CC, 100, incorrectly attributes the font at St. Margaret Lothbury to St. Olave Jewry. The font matches the very precise description in Hatton, 324, and should be considered as original to Lothbury. Moteover,

Pevsner London North, 535-536 locates the St. Olave Jerry font at St. Olave Woodberry Down.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 59. Personal inspection, 2013.

Harrison, 72. Pevsner CC, 100-101. RCHME, 73-
74. Personal inspection, 2016.

Pevsner London North, 535-5306.

Collage, drawing by John Emslie, 1883.
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ST. PETER CORNHILL

e Furnished, 1680-84.

e Thomas Poultney & Thomas Athew
(Js); William Emmett (C, only £20-
worth); Thomas Humphries (M).

Doorcases, west gallery, bread shelves,
churchwardens’ pews, organ case, pulpit,
sounding board, screen, font, font cover,
communion rails (altered), communion table,
reredos.

Pews, text boards in reredos.

ST. STEPHEN COLEMAN STREET

o Furnished, 1676-c78.

e Thomas Creecher (J); William
Newman (C); Jonathan Maine (C 1698
west gallery only).

e Destroyed, 1940.

All furnishings.

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ. Extensive re-ordering, 1872.

Removed (probably by J.D. Wyatt, 1872).

CURRENT LOCATION

Destroyed, 1940.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 123-24. Personal inspection, 2015.

Pevsner CC, 123-124.

SOURCES

Heulin, 69.
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ST. STEPHEN WALBROOK

e Furnished, 1677-83.

e Roger Davies, Stephen College &
Thomas Creecher (Js); William
Newman & Jonathan Maine (Cs);
Thomas Strong (M).

Font, font cover, west gallery, Royal Arms, pulpit,
sounding board, communion rails, communion

table, reredos, Moses & Aaron.

“Nearly all of the original” statuettes on font
covet.

Pediment to reredos.

Pews, ogee dome to sounding board.

CURRENT LOCATION

In situ. Reredos altered by William Gibbs Rogers
c.1850.

Lost some time before 1851, when copies were

added.

Removed, ¢.1776.

Removed, probably 1886-87 by Alexander
Pecbles.

SOURCES

Pevsner CC, 129-130. Personal inspection, 2016.

Builder, 4.1.1851.

Pevsner CC, 130. Current pediment is by William
Gibbs Rogers, ¢.1850, based on one of the reject
reredos designs of 1678-79; Builder, 4.1.1851.

Both extant in 1885 drawing by Edmund Sedding
in Builder, 3.1.1885. No longer extant in 1896
photographs in Birch, Plates XVII & XVIII.
Current ogee dome to sounding board is a replica,
1987: Pevsner CC, 130.
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ST. SWITHIN-LONDON-STONE

e Furnished, 1679-86.

e Roger Davies & Thomas Poultney
(Js); Richard Cleere & Edward Pearce
(Cs); Samuel Fulkes (M).

e Gutted 1941, demolished, 1957.

Pulpit.

Font covet.

Moses & Aaron c.1708.

Sounding board.
Pediment of reredos.

West gallery.

CURRENT LOCATION

All Hallows-by-the-Tower.

St. Bride (in storage) via St. Ethelburga.

Victoria & Albert Museum. Taken down & stored
in the church, 1857. Transferred to V&A, 1938.

“Carted away as old timber,” 1860.
Removed before 1875.

Removed, 1869.

12 These are not mentioned in Hatton (1708) but are dated to the same year by the V&A.

SOURCES

Harrison, 71. Pevsner CC, 50. Personal inspection,
2016.

Diocese. Personal inspection, 2013.
http://collections.vam.ac.uk/item/O0136640/mos
es-dummy-board-unknown/ &
http://collections.vam.ac.uk/item/O136641/aaro
n-dummy-board-unknown/!2

Leftwich, 12.

Leftwich, 12.

Birch, 73. Leftwich, 12.
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Gilded dove in a glory from over east window
now at west end of south aisle.

In situ.

Pevsner CC, 132. Personal inspection, 2016.

Pews.

Cut down, 1885-86.

Pevsner CC, 131, says by Ewan Christian. Jeffery,
18, says by Arthur Blomfield.

All other furnishings.

Destroyed, 1940.
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APPENDIX B: LONDON CLERGY, THEIR PATRONS AND AFFILIATIONS

INTRODUCTORY NOTE
Key and notes on patrons
+ a bishop.

(+) a future bishop.

++ an archbishop.

(++)  a future archbishop.

Names in brackets after “Crown” indicate the Lord Keeper or Lord Chancellor in office at that time, likely to have had an influence on the nomination. Exercise
of Crown patronage in this period was mostly managed by the Lord Chancellor or, when there was no Lord Chancellor, the Lord Keeper of the Great Seal. Of
these, Lord Clarendon, Sir Orlando Bridgman, Sir Heneage Finch, Sir Francis North, and Lord Jeffreys were all Court party/Tory politicians with only one, Lord
Shaftesbury, being a Country party/Whig (and he only held that office for under a year). For discussion of their political loyalties see the relevant entries in the
ODNB. .M. Green, The Re-Establishment of the Church of England 1660-1663 (Oxtord: Oxford University Press, 1978), 53-57, 64-70, illustrates that the process could
be chaotic and subject to much petitioning by supplicants, though it is less evident that this had an impact on London appointments than elsewhere.

Names in brackets after reference to a Dean and Chapter (“D/Ch”) of a cathedral indicate the Dean in office at that time, likely to have had more influence on the
nomination than other members of the cathedral chapter.

Note that where benefices were united after the Fire, the patrons of the united parishes took turns to present a new incumbent.

Where Clergy and Hennessy conflict on their identification of the patron, the Clergy entry has been preferred, by reason of the underlying source being provided.
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PARISH

All Hallows Bread Street

[44

All Hallows-the-Great

All Hallows Lombard Street
Christ Church Newgate
St. Alban Wood Street

St. Andrew Holborn

[44

(44

PATRON

++Sheldon

D/Ch of St. Paul’s ((+) Stillingfleet)

++Sancroft

D/Ch of Canterbury ((++) Tillotson)
D/Ch of Westminster ((++) Dolben)
Provost & Fellows of Eton College

Thomas, Farl of Southampton

Crown (Great Seal in Commission)

Crown (Great Seal in Commission)

INCUMBENT

(+) Edward Fowler, 1673-81

Thomas Blomer, 1681-1723

William Cave, 1679-89

Humphrey Zouch, 1685-1714
Edmund Sheering, 1672-90
William Robinson, 1662-94

(+) Edward Stillingfleet, 1665-89

(+) John Moore, 1689-91

(+) Thomas Manningham, 1691-1713

INCUMBENT’S
CHURCHMANSHIP & OTHER
AFFILIATIONS

Complex, Cambridge Platonist,
anti-Calvinist, anti-Roman Catholic,
anti-Quaker, comprehensionist,
Erastian (ODNB)

High Church, Patristic scholar,
author of Primitive Christianity and
possibly editor of .4 Collection of
Cases (ODNB)

Latitudinarian, Erastian,
controversialist, complex, prolific
publisher of sermons, author of The
Unreasonableness of Separation and
numerous other works (ODNB)

Low Church, Whig, scholar
High Church, active in the SPCK,

“Hanoverian Tory”, regular
preacher at Court (ODNB)
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PARISH

St. Andrew-by-the-Wardrobe
St. Anne & St. Agnes

St. Antholin

[44

(44

[44

St. Augustine Watling Street

[44

St. Bartholomew-by-the-Exchange

[44

St. Benet Fink

St. Benet Gracechurch Street

PATRON

Crown (Shaftesbury)
+Henchman
Crown (Bridgeman)

D/Ch of St. Paul’s ((++) Sancroft)

Crown (Finch)
D/Ch of St. Paul’s ((+) Stillingfleet)
D/Ch of St. Paul’s ((+) Stillingfleet)
D/Ch of St. Paul’s ((+) Stillingfleet)

Crown (Finch)

Crown (Finch)
D/Ch of Windsor (Ryves)

D/Ch of Canterbury ((++) Tillotson)

! The date of Parry’s resignation is uncertain. See entry in Clergy.

INCUMBENT

John Stoning, 1673-94
Samuel Freeman, 1670-89
+) Benjamin Parry, 1671-73 or 74!
] v

William Assheton, 1674-77

Geotge Thorp, 1677-78
Joshua Hodgkis/Hotchkis, 1679-96
William Sill, 1680-8
(+) John Moore, 1687-89

(++) John Sharp, 1675-76

Dr. Benjamin Woodrofte, 1676-1711
George Evans, 1663-93

Henry Halstead, 1675-1728

INCUMBENT’S
CHURCHMANSHIP & OTHER
AFFILIATIONS

Author of numerous tracts hostile
to dissent and Roman Catholicism,
active in the SPCK, author of
devotional pamphlets

Low-church
High Church, comprehensionist,
Anti-Roman Catholic (James II
tried to suspend him), Tory but
took oath in 1689 (ODNB)

Royalist who took the oath in 1689

Absentee (Vestry Minutes)
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PARISH

St. Benet Paul’s Wharf

St. Bride

[44

(44

St. Christopher-le-Stocks

St. Clement Danes

St. Clement Eastcheap
St. Dionis Backchurch

St. Dunstan-in-the-East

PATRON

St. Bartholomew’s Hospital

D/Ch of Westminster ((++) Dolben)

D/Ch of Westminster ((++) Dolben)

D/Ch of Westminster ((+) Sprat)

+Henchman

Sir Vere Fane

+Henchman
D/Ch of Cantetbury (Turner)

++Juxon

INCUMBENT

Peter Lane, 1662-88

George Stradling, 1672-74

Henry Dove, 1674-95

Peter Birch, 1695-1710

John Hall, 1666-1708

Gregory Hascard, 1678-1708

Clement Sankey, 1666-1707
George May, 1665-80

George Gifford, 1661-86

INCUMBENT’S
CHURCHMANSHIP & OTHER
AFFILIATIONS

Royalist, theologically Reformed,
politically moderate (ODNB)

Politically flexible, chaplain
successively to Charles 11, James 11
and William and Mary; Active
persecutor of dissenters (ODNB)
(Walker, 157)

Ardent convert from
presbyterianism, High Church,
Tory, possible Jacobite sympathies
(ODNB)

Royalist who took the oath in 1689,
author of Grace Leading unto Glory,
Jacob’s Ladder and other devotional
wotks (ODNB)

Royalist, Dean of Windsor 1684-
1708

Ex-presbyterian, moderate (Walker,
29, 32, 46, 159-161)
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PARISH

St. Edmund-the-King

St. George Botolph Lane

St. James Garlickhythe

(44

St. James Piccadilly

St. Lawrence Jewry

St. Magnus-the-Martyr

St. Margaret Lothbury

2 Survey (8t. James), Chapter 111, footnote 5.

PATRON

+Sheldon

Crown (Bridgeman)

+Sheldon

+Compton

Thomas, Lord Jermyn?

Crown (Bridgman)

+Sheldon

Crown (Bridgeman)

INCUMBENT

John Bradford, 1669-85

William Sherlock, 1669-91

James Buck, 1661-85

Samuel Alderson, 1685-96

(++) Thomas Tenison, 1685-92

Benjamin Whichcote, 1668-83

Robert Ivory, 1662-1710

Christopher Flower, 1670-98

INCUMBENT’S
CHURCHMANSHIP & OTHER
AFFILIATIONS

High Church, Royalist, Tory, anti-
Roman Catholic, anti-
comprehension, briefly non-juror,
theological controversialist, author
of A Disconrse about Church Unity,
The Case of Resistance to the Supreme
Powers and Protestant Resolution of
Faith (ODNB)

Attacked as “moderate” by
L’Estrange (Walker, 161)

Latitudinarian, Erastian, anti-
Roman Catholic, comprehensionist,
Whig, author of Popery not Founded
on Scripture and numerous other

wotks (ODNB)

Cambridge Platonist, rational
moralist, moderate, active in the

SPCK (ODNB)

268



PARISH

St. Margaret Pattens

St. Martin Ludgate

(44

St. Mary Abchurch

St. Mary Aldermanbury

St. Mary Aldermary

(44

PATRON

Crown (Guilford)

+Henchman

+Compton

Corpus Christi College, Cambridge

The parish

++Sheldon

++Sheldon

INCUMBENT

Thomas Wagstatfe, 1684-90

Chatles Smith, 1672-78

Edward Pelling, 1678-91

Thomas Whincup, 1681-1713

Simon Ford, 1670-76

Thomas Tomkins, 1665-69

John Rudge, 1669-1679

INCUMBENT’S
CHURCHMANSHIP & OTHER
AFFILIATIONS

Tory, non-jurot, Jacobite,
consecrated as a non-juring bishop

(ODNB)

High Church, ceremonialist,
Royalist, Tory prosecutor of
Whig/dissenters who took oath in
1689, author of The Apostate
Protestant (Walker, 150) (ODNB)

Ex-presbyterian, moderate, friend
of Baxter (Hauer & Young, 184-
185) (ODNB)

Royalist, Sheldonian, pamphleteer,

author of The new distemper, or, The

dissenter’s usual pleas for comprebension,
toleration and the renouncing of the
covenant, consider’d and discuss’d

(ODNB)
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PARISH

St. Mary-le-Bow

[44

St. Mary-at-Hill

[44

St. Mary Magdalen, Old Fish Street

St. Mary Somerset
St. Matthew Friday Street
St. Michael Bassishaw

St. Michael Cornhill

St. Michael Crooked Lane

PATRON

++Juxon

++Sancroft

Parish (Sir Charles Alston et al)

Parish (Sir Charles Alston et al)

D/Ch of St. Paul’s ((+) Stillingfleet)

+Croft of Hereford
+Henchman
D/Ch of St. Paul’s ((++) Sancroft)

Drapers Company

++Sheldon

INCUMBENT

George Smalwood, 1662-79

Timothy Puller, 1679-93

Thomas White, 1647-82

Edward Lake, 1682-1704

William Stanley, 1682-90

John Rushbach, 1684-1706
Francis Thompson, 1666-1715
Edward Smith, 1674-1701

John Meriton, 1664-1704

Richard Pearson, 1675-91

INCUMBENT’S
CHURCHMANSHIP & OTHER
AFFILIATIONS

Anti-toleration/comprehension,
pluralist, author of The Moderation of
the Church of England (ODINB)

Unclear. Theologically Reformed
but loyal to James II but then took
oath in 1689 and was hostile to
non-jurors, author of Officium
eucharisticum (ODNB)

Royalist, anti-Catholic, chaplain to
Princess Mary, author of The Faith
and Practice of a Church of England-
Man, Commissioner for 50 New
Churches (ODNB)

Ex-presbyterian, comprehensionist

(Walker, 32) (ODNB)
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PARISH

St. Michael-Paternoster-Royal

(44

St. Michael Queenhithe

St. Michael Wood Street

St. Mildred Bread Street

St. Mildred Poultry

[44

St. Nicholas Cole Abbey

PATRON

+Blandford of Worcester

D/Ch of Canterbury ((++) Tillotson)
D/Ch of St. Paul’s ((++) Sancroft)

Parish (William Page et al)

Sir Nicholas Crisp (Royalist)

Crown (Clarendon)

Crown (Shaftesbury)

Crown (Clarendon)

INCUMBENT

Nathaniel Salter, 1672-84

Alexander Innes, 1684-1690
John Horden, 1671-91

Richard Martyn, 1664-91

William Durham, 1664-84

Richard Perrinchief, 1660-73

(+) John Williams, 1673-96

Thomas Meriton, 1661-1705

INCUMBENT’S
CHURCHMANSHIP & OTHER
AFFILIATIONS

Active persecutor of dissenters

(Walker, 157)

Non-juror

Active persecutor of dissenters

(Walker, 157)

Ex-presbyterian, friend of
+Henchman (ODNB)

Royalist, vigorously anti-
toleration/comprehension, author
of The Royal Martyr and Indulgence not
Justified (ODNB)

Anti-Roman Catholic, probably
Exclusionist, comprehensionist,
controversialist, defended the
veracity of the Popish Plot (ODNB)

Ex-presbyterian, attacked by
L’Estrange as “moderate” (Walker,
29, 161, 185)
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PARISH

St. Olave Jewry

[44

St. Peter Cornhill

St. Stephen Coleman Street

(44

St. Stephen Walbrook

St. Swithin-London-Stone

[44

St. Vedast

PATRON

Crown (Clarendon)

Crown (Finch)

Lord Mayor & Aldermen

Parish

Parish

Grocers Company
Thomas Arthington

Salters Company

++Sheldon

INCUMBENT

Henry Hibbert, 1662-78

Thomas Green, 1678-[d.1720]

(+) William Beveridge, 1672-1704

Thomas Neast, 1671-78

Richard Lucas, 1678-1715

Robert Marriot, 1662-89
Richard Owen, 1638-43 & 60-83

William Basset, 1683-96

William Master, 1671-84

INCUMBENT’S
CHURCHMANSHIP & OTHER
AFFILIATIONS

Sequestered Royalist who became

an Interregnum conformist, ejected

in 1660 and then conformed,

chaplain to Duke of York (ODNB)

A moderate who worked with

dissenters in his parish. (Green: .4
Vindication of Thomas Greene (1711).)

Reformed, Patristic scholar, active

in the SPCK, author of A Sermon

Concerning the Excellency and Usefulness

of the Common Prayer (ODINB)

Moderate, possibly
comprehensionist, author of

devotional works including Practical

Christianity and Enguiry after
Happiness (ODNB)

Sequestered Royalist (ODNB)

High Church, ceremonialist,
tiercely anti-dissent (ODINB)

Interregnum conformist,
Sheldonian loyalist (ODNB)
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APPENDIX C: UNITED PARISHES AND THEIR VESTRIES

INTRODUCTORY NOTE

The source for identifying whether a vestry was select or general and (in some instances) the composition of the vestry (e.g. the number of members) is the
relevant entry in Hatton, New zew, except where indicated in a footnote. These latter other sources are later in date than Hatton (1708) and should not be
assumed to be 100% accurate for the late seventeenth century, given the option for the form of a vestry to be changed.

The fifteen parishes with select vestries are indicated in bold.

CHURCHES REBUILT VESTRY VESTRY RELATED CHURCH NOT REBUILT
All Hallows Bread Street General General St. John-the-Evangelist Friday Street!
All Hallows Lombard Street General - -
All Hallows-the-Great Select (31) General All Hallows-the-Less
Christ Church Newgate General Select (office holders & St. Leonard Foster Lane?
former office holders)
St. Alban Wood Street General General St. Olave Silver Street?

! John Entick, A New and Accurate History and Survey of London, Westminster and Southwark (London: 1766), 111, 418.
2 The London Magazine, 36, 1767, 382.
3 Entick, Survey, IV, 125.
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CHURCHES REBUILT VESTRY VESTRY RELATED CHURCH NOT REBUILT
St. Andrew-by-the-Wardrobe Select General St. Anne Blackfriars
St. Andrew Holborn Select (“about 12”) - -
St. Anne & St. Agnes General General St. John Zachary
St. Antholin General General St. John-the-Baptist-upon-Walbrook*
St. Augustine Watling Street Select General St. Faith-under-St. Paul’s’
St. Bartholomew-by-the-Exchange General - -
St. Benet Fink General - -
St. Benet Gracechurch Street Select Select St. Leonard Eastcheap
St. Benet Paul’s Wharf General General St. Peter Paul’s Wharf
St. Bride General - -
St. Christopher le Stocks General - -
St. Clement Danes Select - -
St. Clement Fastcheap General General St. Martin Orgar
St. Dionis Backchurch General - -
St. Dunstan-in-the-East Select (rector + 30) - -

4 The London Magazine, 35, 1766, 504.
5 The London Magazine, 36, 1767, 382.
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CHURCHES REBUILT VESTRY VESTRY RELATED CHURCH NOT REBUILT
St. Edmund King & Martyr General General St. Nicholas Acons
St. George Botolph Lane General General St. Botolph Billingsgate
St. James Garlickhythe General - -
St. James Piccadilly Select (rector, wardens + 34) - -
St. Lawrence Jewry General [unknown] St. Mary Magdalene Milk Street
St. Magnus-the-Martyr Select (32) General St. Margaret New Fish Street
St. Margaret Lothbury General - -
St. Margaret Pattens General General St. Gabriel Fenchurch Street
St. Martin Ludgate General - -
St. Mary Abchurch General General St. Laurence Pountney
St. Mary Aldermanbury General - -
St. Mary Aldermary General General St. Thomas-the-Apostle
St. Mary-le-Bow General General x 2 St. Pancras Soper Lane & All Hallows

Honey Lane

St. Mary-at-Hill Select (wardens + former [unknown] St. Andrew Hubbard
wardens)
St. Mary Magdalen, Old Fish Street General General St. Gregory-by-St. Paul’s
St. Mary Somerset Select General St. Mary Mounthaw
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CHURCHES REBUILT VESTRY VESTRY RELATED CHURCH NOT REBUILT
St. Matthew Friday Street General General St. Peter Westcheap
St. Michael Bassishaw General - -
St. Micheal Cornhill General - -
St. Michael Crooked Lane General - -
St. Michael Paternoster Royal General General St. Martin Vintry
St. Michael Queenhithe Select (Constables & above) General Holy Trinity-the-Less
St. Michael Wood Street General General St. Mary Staining
St. Mildred Bread Street General General St. Margaret Moses
St. Mildred Poultry Select General St. Mary Colechurch
St. Nicholas Cole Abbey General General St. Nicholas Olave
St. Olave Jewry General General St. Martin Pomary
St. Peter Cornhill Select (30) - -
St. Stephen Coleman Street General (select “in some - -
cases”)
St. Stephen Walbrook Select General St. Benet Sherehog
St. Swithin-London-Stone General General St. Mary Bothaw
St. Vedast General General St. Michael-le-Querne
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APPENDIX D: BENEFACTORS

INTRODUCTORY NOTE

This table sets out high-level details of the 171 benefactors identified in parish records and other sources.

e The source for names of benefactors is parish records, save where indicated by footnote;

e Details of civic office holdings are taken from Rulers;

e Details of membership of Parliament, political allegiance, and having sympathies for presbyterians are taken from the relevant entry in Rulers, Parliament
and/or ODNB; note that without specific evidence, Whig political allegiance is not automatically taken to imply presbytetian sympathies;

e *indicates that the name is recorded on a benefactors board but the actual benefaction is unknown;

e |A] Indicates that the person was elected as Alderman but paid a fine to be discharged of the responsibility;

e The light grey shading is used to help differentiate alternating parishes; and

e Note that other biographical information is available for many donors which is not susceptible to summary in tabular form but which has informed the
discussion of benefactors in Chapter 1.

e Benefactions towards organs have been included in this table as they contribute to understanding patterns of giving, notwithstanding that organs are
outwith the scope of this thesis.
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All Hallows-the-Great Anne Elionora Challoner Pulpit cloth
«“ Theodore Jacobsen Pulpit & sounding board M
“« Richard Smart! Branch
All Hallows Lombard Street Rev. Dr. John Aucher DD &5 T
@ Edward Beard w
« Mrs. Bridget Elson *
« Thomas Fielder &
“ Thomas Jenney? £86
« Thomas Lowfield &5 P
“« Robert Stokes =
“ Sir John Sweetapple £86 CcC S W K

Rev. Humphrey Zouch

! Hatton, 1, 107.

2 Ibid., 109, though unclear if this is in the context of the rebuilding.
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St. Alban Wood Street Benjamin Harvey3 Font
St. Andrew Holborn Sir Thomas Hodgson* Stained glass Royal Arms K
St. Antholin M. Howland £12 10s towards the teredos
« William Potte £50 towards pulpit & pewing CC T
“ Sir Thomas Middleton £50 K
St. Augustine Watling Street5 Dame Margaret Ayloffe £100 twds pews
« Rev. Dr. Thomas Holbech £100 twds pews

St. Benet Fink Sarah Gregory £100 towards organ®
“ George Holman £1,000
« Robert & Rebeckah Stamper? Plate
« Michael & Rebekah Totty8 Plate

3 Malcolm, 11, 311.
41bid., 202.

5 Hatton, 1, 137.

¢ Malcolm, 11, 463.

7 Gents Mag 1830, 5, 258.
8 Ibid.
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St. Benet Gracechurch Street Thomas Carnall Branch
« Roger Mingay Font CC T
St. Benet Paul’s Wharf Eleanor James? Plate & paving round font
« Sir Leoline Jenkins!0 Communion table, chairs K
« “CMm7it Pulpit
“ Sir Robert Wyseman!2 N/A K
St. Bride!3 Rev. Paul Boston Church plate
« Sir Thomas Fitch Bt 3 branches worth £61 16s K
« Sir John King £50 T K
« Sir Edward Lutwyche Altar cloth worth £31 5s T K
« Dr. Jasper Needham MD Plate & books worth £46
9 RCHME, 56.

10 Pevsner CC, 70.

1
1
1

! Inscription on pulpit “Donum CM 1683”.
2 Hibbert, 747, describes Wyseman as a benefactor to St. Benet but gives no soutce and does not specify the nature of the benefaction.

3 Hatton, 1, 173. Strype, 1, 783.
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St. Bride / cont. Sir Edward Rich £10 K
« Sir John Thorowgood £100 K
« Sir Thomas Trevor Bt KB £50 K
«“ John Turner Poor box, plate worth £58
« Sir Jeremy Whichcote Bt Velvet pulpit cloth & table worth £110 K
« Sir Hugh Wyndham £10 K
St. Clement Eastcheap Dr. Baldwin Hamey MD4 * P
St. Dionis Backchurch!s Sir Thomas Cullum Bt Marble paving for sanctuary A S W K
« Sir Robert Geffery Plate, carpet & cushion, £5 CC | D A S IM | M T K
ohn towards cloc
« John Hall £10 ds clock cC \%
« Very Rev. Nathaniel Hardy £50 P
« Elizabeth Hardy £30 towards pulpit & desks

4 ODNB.
1> Hatton, 1, 210.
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St. Dionis Backchurch / cont. Sir Arthur Ingram Communion table & rails cC [A] K
« Philip Jackson Reredos
« Elizabeth Jackson Damask table cloth for comm. table.
« Daniel Rawlinson Branch cC M
« Sir Henry Tulse Font, pavement & steps CC A S LM T K
« Thomas Turgis MP West gallery [A] MP wW> | >T
« Mt. Williams £25
St. Dunstan-in-the-East!6 Sir Bernard Hyde * K
« Sir John Moote MP * CC [A] S IM | M | MP WwW> | >T | K
« Sir William Russell MP * CC [A] M | MP T K
« Lady Dionysis Williamson £4,000

16 Daniell, 169.
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St. James Garlickhythe John Coleman £20 CC M W
« Thomas Eyre £10 cC D P W
“ Peter Jones £20 CcC T
St. James Piccadilly!? Earl of St. Albans Building K
« Sir Robert Gayre Reredos & church plate MP
« Henry Murrell £694 legacy
St. Lawrence Jewry Sir John Langham Bt £250 D A S MP P K
“ Rt. Rev. Edward Reynolds £50 P
St. Magnus-the-Martyr Mr. Collier £10 towards communion rails D
« Sit Peter Daniel MP!8 Branch CC | D A S M | MP T K
« Robert Dickins Churchwardens’ pew & books
“ Sir Chatles Duncombe MP £184 for clock A S IM | M | MP T K

\7 Survey (St. James).
18 Strype, 1, 443.
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St. Magnus-the-Martyr / cont. Ann Frend £100 legacy
“ Henry Freeman Font (jointly with 2 others)
“ Sackford Gunson!? Wainscot in vestry P
« Thomas Passinger Font (jointly with 2 others) T
« Lady Philips £100 legacy
« Edward Pitt £25 cC
« Sir Thomas Player MP £10 CC | D MP P W K
« Thomas Powell Bible CC P
«“ Capt. William Richardson Font (jointly with 2 others)
« Sir John Shaw MP £10 MP K
“ Nicholas Smith £10 towards communion tails cC D T

Robert Tainton20

Royal Arms

19 Ibid.
20 Ibid.
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St. Margaret Lothbury James Boddington?2! Wainscot in vestry CC
« John Hanson?22 £50
« Jeremy Elwey?3 £10
«“ Sit Edward Foach?# £10
«“ Jane Hopegood?s £15
«“ John Jackson26 Bible & 3 prayer books
«“ Jane Rutter?’ Font cover
“ Elizabeth Tulse, Lady
Onslow?8 £15
«“ Robert Whittingham?® £10

21 Hatton, 1, 324.
22 Ibid., 325.

2 Strype, 1, 564.
24 Tbid.

25 Ibid.

26 Thid.

27 Ibid.

28 Tbid.

29 Tbid.
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St. Martin Ludgate Dr. Downes 2 gilt pattens
“ Richard Hawkins Pulpit & sounding board cC A W
« Thomas Motley30 Font
“ Rev. Edward Pelling Bible & BCP T
“ William Symonds > share of reredos, table & rails
« William Warne > share of reredos, table & rails CcC T
St. Mary Abchurch Richard Bowcher Branch
« John Pemmell 2 silver flaggons cC
St. Mary Aldermanbury Richard Chandler Font [A]
“ Michael Lane £40
“ Sir John Langham Bt £350 D A S MP P K
« Mr. Page £10
« Walter Pell3! £100 A P

30 Godwin, n.p..
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St. Mary Aldermanbury / cont. William Prinne £10

Mr. Smith’s family

£50 towards pulpit

« Mr. Walters £100
St. Mary Aldermary32 Henry Rogers £5000 legacy
« Dutton Seaman33 Font

Dame Jane Smith34

Reredos, comm. table frame & rails

« Edward Watts35 Marble top for communion table
St. Mary-at-Hill36 John Cary £40 towards organ

« Mr. Green £30 towards organ

« J Jefferys £20 towards organ

Rev. Dr. Edward Lake

£10 towards organ

3 LAMAS (1948), 9, 155 et al.

32 Hatton, 2, 366 records the east window as being given by Sir Charles Blount, Lord Mountjoy. As the Mountjoy barony was extinct at this time this may memorialise the donor of the pre-Fire window.

3 The font is inscribed ““Dutton Seaman, generos’. natus in hac Parochia anno Salut 1627 ac in ejusdem ecclesia renatus, hoc baptistetion, Nov 1682, lubens dedit.”

34 Hatton, 2, 365.

35 The top of the table is inscribed “Edvardus Watts, Merc. Lond.”

36 Hatton, 2, 375.
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St. Mary-le-Bow Lady Elizabeth Alington £100
« Sir Robert Clayton £10 A S IM| M | MP | P \% K
«“ Francis Dashwood Font & £10
“ Sir John Langham Bt £100 D A S MP P K
“ Mr. Lant £10
“ Mr. Lewis £10
« Sir William Peake L5 A S LM T K
« Sit Joseph Sheldon £20 A S LM | M K
« Sir Samuel Starling £20 A S LM
« Sir Robert Vyner Bt £100 A S LM K
« Lady Dionysis Williamson £2,000
John Tooley3’ Font & vestry wainscot CC | D W

St. Mary Somerset

37 Hatton, 2, 405.
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St. Matthew Friday Street Sir Edwatd Clarke Gallery front, Roy. Arms (with Sandford) cC D A S IM | M P W K
« Miles Martin 2 branches (jointly with Shipton) cC
@ John Pratt N/A
«“ Thomas Sandford Gallery front, Royal Arms (with Clarke)
“ Capt John Shipton 2 branches (jointly with Martin)
«“ James Smith Reredos, comm. table & rails
St. Michael Bassishaw Sir Christopher Packe £100 D A LM MP P K
St. Michael Cornhill Anne Bourne £12
« James Clitherow £50
“ Sir John Langham Bt £500 D A S MP P K
“ Sir John Monson Bt MP £20 MP P K
« John Paul Font CC
« Sir Andrew Riccard MP £50 A S M | MP P K
« Mary Scottow £20
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St. Michael Queenhithe Mr. & Mrs. John Oliver Silver salver & linen for comm. table CC
St. Michael-Paternoster-Royal Abraham Jordan38 Font
St. Michael Wood Street Elizabeth Browning £10
“ William Harvey3? £100 [A]
“ John Mould £10
St. Mildred Bread Street Major Robert Huntington Bible, Prayer Book et al
« Nathaniell Lacey 2 carpets for communion table
«“ John Matthias Owen Velvet cushion with fringe
“ Benjamin Williams*0 Figure of Time

3 Allen, 3, 756.
» LAMAS, (1), 1905, 263.
4 Hatton, 2, 434.
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St. Mildred Poultry Lady Elizabeth Alington £200
« Robert Brabant4! Font, font cover and rails
“ Sir Ralph Box Wainscot in vestry CcC M T K
« Richard Dauling#2 Churchyard wall & gate
«“ Henry Dixon*3 £10 towards pulpit
«“ Francis Edmonds*+ £10 towards pulpit
« Thomas Mallory* £10 towards pulpit
« Lewis Newnham?* Branch worth £40

Ambrose Nicholas

£6 10s twds bell

Edward Shawler?

£20 towards clock

41 Milbourn, 71.
4 Ibid., 72-73.
4 Ibid., 71.

44 Ibid.

4 Ibid.

46 Tbid.

47 1bid., 73.
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St. Mildred Poultry / cont. John Turvin* £20 towards clock
St. Olave Jewry Sir John Frederick £12 for wainscot; £150 legacy in 168549 A S IM | M | MP P W K
« Mr. Hartleye Branch worth £11
« Robert Harvey £5
« Sir Joseph Herne MP £10 towards font [A] MP T K
« Augustine/Augustus Newbold £10 15s towards commandment boards CcC D
St. Peter Cornhill Richard Blackburnes? £150 M?
“ Samuel Purchas5! Font
St. Stephen Coleman Sir William Fazackerly Gallery CcC D T K

48 Ibid.

4 Hotson, 77, (in relation to Frederick’s legacy) though note that by 1685 the church was probably fully furnished.
50 http:/ /www.londonroll.org/event/?company=drp&event_id=DRHT4236 (though not recorded in Rulers).
51 Recorded as donor of the font on memotial to his wife.
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St. Stephen Walbrook Sir Thomas Chicheley MP52 £100 M | MP T K
“ Grocers Company *
“ William Hodges £10
St. Vedast John Davenport53 Bell T
« Peter Pickering>* Bell CC T
TOTALS 55 171 benefactors 31 12 24 16 12 16 16 16 15 24 39

52 Parliament.

53 Rulers mentions two John Davenports of St. Vedast patish, father and son, both of whom were Tory. See also Love.

5 Love.

55 All totals have been adjusted to account for multiple benefactions, such as those of Sir John Langham.
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APPENDIX E: CONTRACT OF ST. PETER CORNHILL WITH
THOMAS POULTNEY AND THOMAS ATHEW,
5 AUGUST 1680

INTRODUCTORY NOTE

The contract as written directly in the vestry minutes has no punctuation or paragraphs. It has been

transcribed here with paragraphs for ease of reading,.!

THE TRANSCRIPTION

It was voted and ordered that Thomas Poultny and Thomas Athew Citizens and Joyners of London their
Executors Administrators workemen servants and Assignees or some of them shall or some of their owne
proper costs and Charges on or before the first day of Aprill now next coming (if not hindered by
Carpenters plasterers or Masons worke) well strong substantiall handsome Convenient and workmanlike
make build erect sett up and finish in the afore mentioned patish Church of St. Peter upon Cornhill

London for the severall prices hereafter mentioned

All such pewes and seates and Screene and pulpitt according to the severall formes and fashions
as are particularly described in the patticular plotts and Scheames hereunto annexed and of the severall

hights demencons and thicknesses herein after particularly mentioned and expressed (that is to say)

All the pewes that shall be made and sett up in the body of the said Church of St. Peter upon
Cornhill shall be of the hight of three foot and Eight Inches above the floor and all the pewes in

the Chancell shall be of the hight of three foot and nine Inches above the floor

And that the pillars and walls in the said Church shall be lined nyne foot high or their about

above the floore and that the Screene which shall divide the body of the said Church from the

' LMA/PG9/PET1/B/001/MS04165/001, fol. 489-492.
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Item

Chancell shall be thirteene foot high above the pavement and made according to the Modell

hereinto annexed

And that all the fronts of the pewes shall be framed with Wainscott Inch and halfe thicke and
mitered with an O G: on both sides and a [raile?] laid on the out side of the framing and the

panells three quarters of an Inch thicke raised on both sides

All the porticons shall be framed with Wainscott Inch and halfe thick and mittered with an O G
on both sides and the panells three quarters of an Inch thick raised on both sides under the
benches excepted which shall be wrought as plaine worke the Wallworke and Casing the pillars
shall be framed with Wainscott one Inch thick and mittered with an O G and the panells halfe
Inch thick raised

All the Deske boards shall be of Wainscot three-quarters of an Inch thick and Eight Inches broad

morte of less (as shall be directed) with the Bracketts not to be measuted in)

All the benches shall be made of well seasoned yellow Drame Deale without knotts or holes and
shall be a foot broad more or less (as shall be directed) and Inch and halfe thick the foote for the
benches not to be measured or paid for the Screene shall be framed with Wainscott three Inch

thick and panells one Inch and a quarter thick raised on both sides

And that the fronts and particons is of the pewes the Wallworke and lining of the pillars as
aforesaid shall be all measured straight measure in length and hight the skreene only as worke and

halfe (the Kings Armes above the screene Excepted)

And shall and will also make an sett up the Kings Armes upon the Screene aforementioned raised
faire on both sides which shall appeare on both sides the said Screene and shall be well and
workemanlike wrought in Wainscott according to the best [ ] skill of the trade or mistery of a

Carver

And shall and will make an sett up a Wainscott pulpitt with the Canopy staires rales and Carving

worke belonging to it according to the forme of the Modell hereunto also annexed

And further that all the Wainscott that shall be used in and about the severall pewes Wallworke
lining of the pillars Skreene Kings Armes and pulpitt shall be made of good cleane sound well
coloured well dryed well seasoned and well matched East Country Wainscott without white or red

veins sap knotts or holes in the framing panelling or moulding worke

And shall and will also handsome and workemanlike sett on the hinges and locks that is to say A

paire of hinges and a locke to each doore.

that the fronts of all the aforesaid pewes shall be done after the rate of Eight shillings per yard

measuring gone side the particons of all the pewes shall be done after the rate of six shillings per
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yard measuring one side the Wallworke and Casing of the pillars shall be done after the rate of

five shillings per yard
The Deske boards shall be done after the rate of fower pence per foot
The benches shall be done after the rate of five pence per foot

The Screene and Carveing worke about the same according to the Moddell aforesaid shall be
done after the rate of Ten shillings per yard Except the Kings Armes which shall be done for the

sume of Eight pounds

The pulpitt Canopy railes and staires belonging to itt according to the Moddell shall be done for

the sum of Thirtie pounds
Item

all the benches shall be borne up with standards of Deale and is not to be measured but to goe

into the benching at two pence a foote

And the said Thomas Poultny and Thomas Athew for themselves and either of them their and
either of their Executors Administrators and assignees and for every of them doe and doth Covenant
promise and grant to and with the said Thomas Seal and William Shippy and their Successors
Churchwardens of the said parish of St. Peter upon Cornhill London for the tyme being and to and with
every of them by these presents that they the said Thomas Poultney and Thomas Athew their Executors
Administrators workemen servants or Assignes shall and will at their or some of their owne proper costs
and charges on all before the said first day of Aprill now next coming for the severall rates and prices
afore expressed well and sufficiently strong substantiall handsome Convenient and workman like make
build direct sett up and finish in the aforementioned parish Church of St. Peter upon Cornhill London all
the pewes and seates together with the Screene and pulpitt according to the severall formes and fashions
hights demencons and thicknesses aforemenconed and Expressed and according to the good likeing or
Judgement of two such persons who shall be able workmen as the Comitte Chosen for the same by the
vestry men of the said parish shall appoint provided that noe person or persons shall be Ajudger of the

said worke that weere any of the Joyners whoe putt in to doe the same

In Consideracon of all the said Worke to be done compleated and finished according to the
severall particulars aforesaid and true meaning hereof It is voted and ordered by the said vestry that the
monys which the said Worke shall amount unto after the severall rates and prices aforemenconed shall be
paid to the said Thomas Poultney and Thomas Athew their Executors Administrators or Assignes is in
manner following that is to say the sume of one hundred pounds upon the said Thomas Poultney and
Thomas Athew their Executors Administrators or Assignes bringing in of the said worke into the said

parish Church of St. Peter upon Cornhill the sume of one hundred pounds more upon their fixeing and
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setting up of the said pewes pulpitt and Screene in the said parish Church and the remainder of the mony
as the said worke shall amount unto after the severall rates and prices aforesaid within two Months next
after the Compleat finishing of the worke aforesaid in every respect accordinge to the true intent and

meaneing hereof

In Witness whereof the said Thomas Poultney and Thomas Athew have hereunto sett their hands

and seales the day and year first above written.

Bonded and desired Tho: Poultney
In the persone of

Thomas Athew
Christo: Cole

Lancelott Skynner
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APPENDIX F: JOINERS & CARVERS WORKING IN
THE CITY CHURCHES

INTRODUCTORY NOTE

This appendix lists the joiners and carvers recorded and otherwise identified as having worked at the new
City churches. Where records allow, particular items which they produced are mentioned, though the
haphazard nature of parish records in particular means that these should not be taken as exhaustive. The
sources — especially in parish records — are too numerous to give individual folio or page references.

TABLE F.1: JOINERS

Thomas Athew

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Martin Ludgate, St. Peter Cornhill.
e  (Sources: parish records).

Thomas Bayley

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Mary Aldermary (pews).
e (Sources: Colvin 2, parish records).

John Blinto

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Michael Bassishaw (communion table, reredos).
e (Sources: parish records).

John Blunkett

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Dionis Backchurch.
e (Sources: parish records).

Robert Christmas

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Michael Bassishaw (pews).
e  (Sources: parish records).
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William Cleere (fl. 1662-1690; brother of Richard, the carver)

e  City churches as building joiner: All Hallows Bread Street, All Hallows-the-Great, St. Alban
Wood Street, St. Antholin, St. Benet Gracechurch Street, St. Benet Paul’s Wharf, St. Benet Fink,
St. Bartholomew-by-the-Exchange, St. Bride, St. Dionis Backchurch, St. George Botolph Lane,
St. James Garlickhythe, St. Lawrence Jewry, St. Magnus-the-Martyr, Lothbury, St. Margaret
Pattens, St. Mary Abchurch, St. Mary-at-Hill, St. Mary Somerset, St. Mary-le-Bow, St. Mary
Aldermanbury, St. Matthew Friday Street, St. Michael Paternoster Royal, St. Michael Crooked
Lane, St. Michael Cornhill, St. Mildred Bread Street, St. Mildred Poultry, St. Nicholas Cole Abbey,
St. Peter Cornbhill, St. Stephen Coleman, St. Swithin-London-Stone.

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Mary-le-Bow (everything except galleries), St. James

Piccadilly, St. Magnus-the-Martyr, St. Mary-at-Hill, St. Mary Aldermanbury (pews), St. Michael

Cornhill, St. Swithin-London-Stone.

Office of Works: Chelsea, Whitehall.

Other work for Wren: Sheldonian Theatre, the Great Model of St. Paul’s Cathedral.

Aristocratic commissions: Badminton, Stowe House (as architect).

Other: Divinity School Oxford.

(Soutces: parish records, Smith, Wren Society).

Stephen College (fl. 1670-81)

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Stephen Walbrook (panelling, pews).
e (Source: parish records).

Thomas Cooper

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Antholin (pews).
e  (Sources: parish records).

Thomas Creecher

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Edmund the King, St. Mary Abchurch (two doorcases,
Churchwardens’ pews, pews, poor box), St. Mary Aldermary, St. Michael Crooked Lane, St.
Stephen Coleman, Street (doorcases, pews), Stephen Walbrook (communion table, rails,
doorcases, pulpit, tester, reredos, west gallery), St. Swithin-London-Stone.

e  (Sources: Colvin 2, parish records).

Roger Davies (fl. 1671-1709)

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Andrew-by-the-Wardrobe, St. Mildred Bread Street (pews),
St. Stephen Walbrook (panelling, pews), St. Swithin-London-Stone.

Office of Works: Chelsea, Greenwich, Whitehall.

e  Other work for Wren: St. Paul’s Cathedral.

e Aristocratic commissions: Boughton, Burghley, Ragley Hall.

e  Other: Apothecaries Hall, Canterbury Cathedral.

e (Sources: Beard, parish records, Wren Office, Wren Society).
Mr Draper

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Martin Ludgate (pews).
e (Source: parish records).
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Mr Emery

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Mary Aldermanbury.
e (Source: parish records).

John/Jonathan Fuller
e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Anne and St. Agnes, St. James Garlickhythe.
e (Source: parish records).

William Grey

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: All Hallows Lombard Street, St. Antholin (pulpit), St. Benet
Fink, St. Bride (pews including in galleries, pulpit, reredos), St. Christopher-le-Stocks, St. Dionis

Backchurch, St. Magnus-the-Martyr (pulpit), St. Martin Ludgate (pulpit, south doorcases), St.
Mary Abchurch (communion rails, pulpit, tester), St. Mary Aldermary (pulpit).

e (Source: parish records, Pevsner CC).

John Harris

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Mary Aldermanbury (two doorcases), [probably] St. Michael

Wood Street (font cover).
e (Source: parish records).

George Hathaway

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. George Botolph Lane.
e (Source: parish records).

Andrew Hazell

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. George Botolph Lane.
e (Source: parish records).

Mr Holloway

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. George Botolph Lane.
e (Source: parish records).

Valentine Houseman

e  City churches as building joiner: St. Olave Jewry.
e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Andrew Holborn, St. Olave Jewry.
e  (Source: parish records, Wren Society).

Richard Kedge

e  City churches as building joiner: St. Margaret Old Fish Street.

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Lawrence Jewry, St. Mary Magdalene Old Fish Street
(pews), St. Matthew Friday Street, St. Nicholas Cole Abbey (reredos, pulpit, font cover), St.
Swithin-London-Stone (font covet).

e (Sources: parish records, Pevsner CC, Wren Society).
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Thomas Kennard

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Bride (pews).
e (Sources: parish records).

Robert Layton
e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. James Gatrlickhythe, St. Michael Queenhithe.
e (Source: parish records).

Mr Massey

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Bartholomew-by-the-Exchange, St. Magnus-the-Martyr
(north dootcase).

e (Source: parish records).

Edward Marshall

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Alban Wood Street.
e (Source: parish records).

Nathaniel Miles

e St. Antholin (pews).
e (Source: parish records).

John Mitchell

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: All Hallows Lombard Street, St. Alban Wood Street, St. Benet
Gracechurch Street, St. Michael Crooked Lane.

e  Other: possibly the same John Mitchell listed as a carpenter in Beard for St. Peter’s Bristol.
e (Source: Beard, parish records).

Thomas Page

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Anne and St. Agnes.
e (Source: parish records).

Samuel Port

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Mary Somerset (communion table and rails, pulpit,
reredos).

e (Sources: Wren Office).

Mt Poulden

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Martin Ludgate.
e (Sources: parish records, Pevsner CC).

Thomas Poultney

e  City churches as building joiner: St. Margaret Pattens.

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Bartholomew-by-the-Exchange, St. Clement Eastcheap, St.
Peter Cornhill, St. Swithin-London-Stone.

e  (Sources: parish records, Wren Society).
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Thomas Powell

e  City churches as building joiner: All Hallows-the-Great.

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: All Hallows-the-Great, St. Mary Abchurch, St. Mary
Aldermary (pews).

e (Sources: Colvin 2, parish records, Pevsner CC, Wren Society).

Francis Ragg

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Michael Bassishaw (pews, pulpit).
e (Sources: parish records).

John Smallwell
e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Vedast.
e (Source: Jeffery).

Mr Smith

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Andrew-by-the-Wardrobe (pews).
e  (Sources: parish records).

John Symes

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Bride (pews), St. Vedast
e (Sources: parish records)

Zachary Taylor

e St. Antholin (pews).
e (Sources: parish records).

Mt Thwaite

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Michael Cornbhill.
e (Sources: parish records).

Thomas Whyting

e  City churches as building joiner: St. Edmund the King, St. Mary-le-Bow, St. Olave Jewry.

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Mary-le-Bow (galleries).
e (Sources: parish records, Wren Society).

Chatles Williams

e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Mary Aldermanbury.
e  (Sources: parish records).

302



Matthew Williams

e  City churches as building joiner: Christ Church Newgate.
e  City churches as furnishing joiner: St. Bride (alterations to galleries), St. Mildred Poultry.
e  (Sources: parish records, Wren Society.

TABLE F.2 CARVERS

John Baker

e City churches as carver: St. Alban Wood Street, St. Bartholomew-by-the-Exchange.
e  (Sources: parish records).

John Bullymore

e  City churches as carver: St. Dionis Backchurch (four capitals).
e  (Sources: parish records).

Thomas Cartwright (c. 1617-1702)

e  City churches as mason: St. Antholin, St. Benet Fink, St. Mary-le-Bow.

e  City churches as carver: St. Benet Fink (font).

e  Other work: Drapers Hall, Mercers Hall, Tallow Chandlers Hall, Weavers Hall.
e (Sources: Gunnis, patish records, Roscoe, Wren Society).

Peter Cheltenham

e  City churches as carver: St. Alban Wood Street, St. Anne & St. Agnes (font cover, reredos).
e (Sources: parish records, Pevsner CC).

Richard Cleere (fl. 1662-82; brother of William, the joiner)

e  City churches as masonry catrver: St. Olave Jewry, St. Stephen Walbrook, St. Swithin-London-
Stone.

e  City churches as carver: St. Bartholomew-by-the-Exchange, St. Martin Ludgate, St. Michael
Cornhill (probably the reredos), St. Mildred Bread Street (font cover).

e  Other work for Wren: Sheldonian Theatre, the Great Model of St. Paul’s Cathedral.
e Aristocratic commissions: Coleshill, Clarendon House.
e (Sources: Beard, parish records, Pevsner CC, Wren Society).

William Emmett (c. 1641-1700)

e  City churches as masonry catrver: St. Christopher-le-Stocks.
e  City churches as carver: St. Bartholomew-by-the-Exchange, St. Bride, St. Lawrence Jewry, St.

Mary Abchurch (font cover, font rails, Royal Arms, north & south doorcases), St. Martin Ludgate

(south doorcases), St. Peter Cornhill, Temple Church (pulpit & screen).

e  Office of Works: Chelsea, Hampton Court, Kensington, Whitehall; Sculptor to the Crown before

Gibbons.
e (Sources: Beard, Gunnis, Lewer & Datk, patish records, Pevsner CC, Roscoe, Wren Society).



Edward Freeman

e  City churches as carver: St. Peter Cornbhill.
e (Soutce: Beard).

Samuel Fulkes (?-1714)

e City churches as mason: All Hallows Bread Street, St. Alban Wood Street, St. Bride, St. Margaret
Lothbury, St. Margaret Pattens, St. Mary Aldermary, St. Michael Queenhithe, St. Swithin-London-
Stone.

e  City churches as carver: All Hallows Bread Street, St. Augustine Watling Street, St. Bride, St.
James Garlickhythe, St. Margaret Lothbury, St. Margaret Pattens, St. Mary Aldermanbury, St.
Swithin-London-Stone (font).

e  Office of Works: Winchester.

e  Other work for Wren: St. Paul’s Cathedral.

(Soutrces: Campbell, Colvin 2, Gunnis, Pevsner CC, Roscoe, Wren Society).

Grinling Gibbons (1648-1721)

e  City churches as carver: All Hallows-by-the-Tower (font cover, attrib.), St. James Piccadilly
(reredos), St. Mary Abchurch (reredos).

e  Office of Works: Hampton Court, Kensington, Whitehall, Windsor; Master Carver in Wood to
the Crown.

Other work for Wren: St. Paul’s Cathedral, Trinity College Cambridge.

Aristocratic commissions: Badminton, Blenheim, Burghley, Chatsworth, Petworth, Sudbury.
Other: St. Alphege, Greenwich.

(Soutrces: Beard, Gunnis, ODNB, parish records, Roscoe).

William Hammond (fl. 1670-90)

e  City churches as mason: All Hallows-the-Great, St. Anne & St. Agnes, St. Michael Crooked Lane.

e  City churches as mason-carver: All Hallows-the-Great (probably reredos and statues of Moses
and Aaron).

e Aristocratic commissions: Montagu House.
e  Other: Royal College of Physicians, Vintners Hall.
e (Sources: Gunnis, parish records, Roscoe).

Thomas Hill

e  City churches as carver: St. Anne & St. Agnes (font), [probably| St. Michael Wood Street (font).
e (Source: parish records, Pevsner CC).

Almandy Howart

e  City churches as carver: St. Mary Abchurch (communion table and rails).
e (Source: Pevsner CC).

Roger Humphries

e  City churches as carver: St. Matthew Friday Street (pews).
e (Source: parish records).
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Thomas Humphries

e  City churches as carver: St. Peter Cornhill (probably font).
e (Source: parish records).

Christopher Kempster (1627-1715)

e City churches as mason: St. James Garlickhythe, St. Mary Abchurch, St. Mary Somerset, St.
Stephen Walbrook.

e  City churches as carver: St. Mary Abchurch (font), St. Mary Somerset.
e  Other work for Wren: St. Paul’s Cathedral, Christ Church Oxford.
e (Sources: Campbell, Gunnis, patish records, Roscoe, Wren Society).

Thomas Lowe

e  City churches as carver: Christ Church Newgate, Temple Church (columns).
e  (Sources: Beard, Lewer & Dark).

Jonathan Maine (fl. 1680-1709)

e  City churches as masonry carver: St. Andrew-by-the-Wardrobe, St. Augustine Watling Street, St.
Mary Magdalen Old Fish Street.

e  City churches as carver: St. Antholin (probably pulpit), St. Andrew-by-the-Wardrobe (pulpit), St.
Augustine Watling Street (pulpit), St. Clement Eastcheap, St. Mary Aldermary (pulpit & desks), St.
Mary Magdalene Old Fish Street, St. Mary Somerset (pulpit, tester, reredos), St. Stephen
Walbrook (pews & scrollwork panels).

e  Other work for Wren: St. Paul’s Cathedral, Trinity College Oxford (but not reredos).
e Aristocratic commissions: Burghley, Kiveton.
e  Other work: Christ’s Hospital, Corpus Christi Oxford (screen), Eton College.

e  (Sources: Colvin 2, Gunnis, parish records, Pevsner CC, Roscoe, Wren Office, Wren Society; Beard
also links him with St. Clement Eastcheap & St. Stephen Walbrook).

William Mildman

e  City churches as carver: St. Alban Wood Street.
e (Source: parish records).

William Newman (fl. 1676-94)

e  City churches as carver: St. James Garlickhythe, St. Martin Ludgate, St. Mary Abchurch (pews),
St. Michael Crooked Lane, St. Michael Queenhithe, St. Stephen Coleman Street. (communion
table, rails, doorcases, reredos), St. Stephen Walbrook (pulpit & tester, desks, reredos,
communion table, rails, font cover, doorcases).

e (Sources: Beard, parish records, Pevsner CC).
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Edward Pearce (c. 1635-95)

e  City churches as mason and/or architectural carver: St. Andrew Holborn, St. Clement Danes, St.
Lawrence Jewry, St. Mary-le-Bow, St. Matthew Friday Street.

e  City churches as carver: St. Andrew Holborn (reredos, communion table, communion rails,
pulpit, desks, Churchwardens’ pews et al), St. Benet Fink, St. Clement Danes (pulpit, reredos), St.
Lawrence Jewry (reredos, pulpit, tester, west screen), St. Matthew Friday Street. (reredos, pulpit,
font), St. Michael Wood Street, St. Mildred Poultry, St. Olave Jewry, St. Swithin-London-Stone.

e  Office of Works: Hampton Court, Whitehall.

e  Other work for Wren: Emmanuel College Cambridge, Pembroke College Cambridge, St. Paul’s
Cathedral.

e Aristocratic commissions: Horseheath Hall, Lichfield Palace (as architect), Sudbury.

e  Other: Clare College Cambridge, Coopers Hall, Grocers Hall, Guildhall, Painter-Stainers Hall,
several busts & statues.

e  (Sources: Beard, Campbell, Grimstone, Gunnis, ODNB, parish records, Pevsner CC, Roscoe,
Wren Society).

Mr Richardson

e  City churches as carver: St. Michael Cornhill.
e (Source: parish records).

Richard Saunders (fl. 1696-1715)

e  City churches as carver: All Hallows Lombard Street.
e  Other: Gog and Magog statues at Guildhall.
e (Source: Gunnis, parish records).

John Shorthose

City churches as mason: Christ Church Newgate, St. Clement Danes, St. Olave Jewry.
City churches as carver: St. Olave Jewry (font).

Other: Coopers Hall, Guildhall.

(Soutces: Gunnis, parish records, Wren Society).

William Stanbrough (d. 1695)

e  City churches as carver: St. Christopher-le-Stocks (font).
e (Sources: Gunnis, Wren Society).

Edward Strong Snr (1652-1724; brother of Thomas)

e  City churches as mason: St. Augustine Watling Street (completed), St. Benet Paul’s Wharf
(completed), St. Clement Eastcheap, Mary Aldermary, St. Margaret Old Fish Street, St. Michael
Paternoster Royal, St. Mildred Bread Street, St. Vedast.

e  City churches as carver: St. Clement Eastcheap, St. Margaret Old Fish Street, St. Michael
Paternoster Royal, St. Mildred Bread Street.

Office of Works: Greenwich, Whitehall, Winchester Palace.
Other work for Wren: St. Paul’s Cathedral.
Aristocratic commissions: Blenheim Palace, Canons, Matlborough House.

(Soutces: Campbell, Gunnis, parish records, Pevsner CC, Roscoe, Wren Society (which also
mentions St. Stephen Walbrook, which Gunnis and Pevsner attributes to Thomas Strong)).
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Thomas Strong (d. 1681)

e  City churches as mason: St. Augustine Watling Street (begun), St. Benet Paul’s Whatf (begun), St.

James Garlickhythe, St. Stephen Walbrook.
e  City churches as carver: St. Stephen Walbrook (font).
e  Other work for Wren: St. Paul’s Cathedral.
e (Source: Campbell, Gunnis, patish records).

Henry Swarbrick

e  City churches as carver: St. Edmund the King.
e (Source: Pevsner CC).

(Thomas?) Thornton

e  City churches as carver: All Hallows-the-Great (screen).

e (Sources: Pevsner CC).

Mr Thomson

e  City churches as carver: St. Magnus-the-Martyr (font).
e (Source: parish records).

Thomas Turnly
e St Mary Aldermanbury (Royal Arms).
e (Source: parish records).

William Woodruffe (fl. 1636-73)

e  City churches as carver: All Hallows-the-Great (screen).

e Other: Brewers Hall.
e  (Sources: Beard, parish records, Pevsner CC, Roscoe).
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APPENDIX G: SUMMARY OF REREDOS FEATURES AND

COMMUNION TABLE TERMINOLOGY

All sources are Hatton, except where indicated to the contrary. For the number of steps up to the communion table, the earliest dated source has been used.

All Hallows Bread Street

All Hallows-the-Great

All Hallows Lombard Street
Christ Church Newgate

St. Alban Wood Street

St. Andrew Holborn

St. Andrew-by-the-Wardrobe

St. Anne & St. Agnes

MOSES &
AARON

No. OF STEPS
TO TABLE (&
SOURCE)

1 (Places)
2 (Niven)

1 (Wren Society)
2 (Wren Society)
?

2 (Wren Society)
1 (Wren Society)

1 (Wren Society)

LOCATION OF
GLORY

Tympanum

2nd storey

Tympanum

?

LOCATION
OF ROYAL
ARMS

Reredos

Screen

Reredos

Reredos

Reredos

East window

Reredos

PELICAN IN TERMINOLOGY USED IN PARISH
HER PIETY RECORDS: ALTAR OR TABLE?
Y -

- “Alter” x 1; table x 2

- Table x 2
- Altar x 1; table x 1

- Table x 1
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PARISH CHURCH

St. Antholin

St. Augustine Watling Street

St. Bartholomew-by-the Exchange

St. Benet Fink

St. Benet Gracechurch Street

St. Benet Paul’s Wharf
St. Bride
St. Christopher-le-Stocks
St. Clement Danes
St. Clement Eastcheap
St. Dionis Backchurch
St. Dunstan-in-the-East
St. Edmund the King
St. George Botolph Lane
St. James Gatrlickhythe
St. James Piccadilly

St. Lawrence Jewry

MOSES &
AARON

Y (Malcolm)

Y
Y

Y (Malcolm)

NoO. OF STEPS
TO TABLE (&
SOURCE)

1 (Wren Society)
1 (Wren Society)
?

2 (Wren Society)
2 (Wren Society)
1 (Wren Society)
1 (Wren Society)
3
3 (Wren Society)
1 (Wren Society)
1 (Places)

2 (Malcolm)
3 (Wren Society)
2 (Wren Society)
3 (Wren Society)

1 (Wren Society)

1 (Wren Society)

LOCATION OF

GLORY

Above Dec
Tympanum

Tympanum

Above Dec
Tympanum
East wall

Above Dec

Tympanum

Above Dec

Tympanum

LOCATION
OF RoYAL
ARMS
Reredos
Reredos
Reredos
Reredos
Reredos
Reredos
Reredos
Reredos
Reredos
North wall
Reredos
Organ case
East window

Reredos

Reredos

PELICAN IN
HER PIETY

TERMINOLOGY USED IN PARISH
RECORDS: ALTAR OR TABLE?

Table x 1

Table x 2

Table x 1

Table x 1

Altar x 1; Table x 1

Table x 2
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PARISH CHURCH

St. Magnus Martyr

St. Margaret Lothbury
St. Margaret Pattens
St. Martin Ludgate
St. Mary Abchurch
St. Mary Aldermanbury
St. Mary Aldermary
St. Mary-le-Bow
St. Mary at Hill
St. Mary Magdalen, Old Fish Street
St. Mary Somerset
St. Matthew Friday Street
St. Michael Bassishaw
St. Michael Cornhill
St. Michael Crooked Lane

St. Michael Paternoster Royal

MOSES &
AARON

No. OF STEPS
TO TABLE (&
SOURCE)

1>0>1 (vestry
mins)

1 (Wren Society)
1 (Wren Society)
1 (Wren Society)
1 (Wren Society)
2 (Wren Society)
1
1 (Wren Society)
1 (Wren Society)
1 (Wren Society)
1 (Wren Society)
1 (Collage 1882)
1 (Wren Society)
1 (Collage 1833)
1 (Hatton)

1 (Places)

LOCATION OF

GLORY

2nd storey

Above Dec
Tympanum

Tympanum

Above Dec

Above Dec

Above window

Tympanum

Tympanum

Above Dec

Ceiling

Above Dec

LOCATION
OF ROYAL
ARMS

Reredos
West door
Reredos
West gallery
Reredos
Reredos
North gallery
Reredos
N gallery
East window
West gallery
West wall
East window
West door

Reredos

PELICAN IN
HER PIETY

TERMINOLOGY USED IN PARISH
RECORDS: ALTAR OR TABLE?

Table x 1

Table x 1

Table x 1

Table x 1

Table x 1
“Alter peece table” x 1; table x 1
Table x 1

Table x 1
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PARISH CHURCH

St. Michael Queenhithe
St. Michael Wood Street
St. Mildred Bread Street
St. Mildred Poultry
St. Nicholas Cole Abbey
St. Olave Jewry
St. Peter Cornhill
St. Stephen Coleman Street
St. Stephen Walbrook

St. Swithin London Stone

St. Vedast

MOSES &
AARON

NoO. OF STEPS
TO TABLE (&
SOURCE)

1 (Wren Society)
?

1 (Wren Society)
1 (Wren Society)
1 (Wren Society)
?

1 (Wren Society)
1
1 (Wren Society)

12 (Wren Society)

1 (Wren Society)

LOCATION OF  LOCATION
GLORY OF RoYAL
ARMS
Tympanum -
Above reredos Reredos
Tympanum North wall
Above Dec Reredos
Above Dec Reredos
Above Dec Reredos
Above Dec Screen
Above Dec Reredos
= Reredos
Above Dec Reredos
2nd storey North wall &

east window

PELICAN IN
HER PIETY

TERMINOLOGY USED IN PARISH
RECORDS: ALTAR OR TABLE?

Table x 1

Table x 1

Table x 2

Table x 2

Table x 1
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APPENDIX H: TRANSLATION OF WILLIAM BEVERIDGE,
SYNODIKON, “ON THE CANONS OF THE FIRST
NICENE COUNCIL - ON CANON XI”

INTRODUCTORY NOTE

I am grateful to David Wyatt for translating this chapter from the original Greek and Latin text.

TRANSLATOR’S NOTE

Beveridge’s argument is based on consistent use of technical terms; the only exceptions are his use of
“temple”, “church” and “nave”, and occasionally “oratory”, simply for variety, all meaning “church”; and
of “sacerdos”, “pontifex” and “presbyter” all to mean “priest”. (I have used “temple” when Beveridge
does, but otherwise standardised). Where Beveridge quotes in Greek he often translates into Latin — I
have translated once only into English.! Wherever quotations have been checked back to the patristic
texts, Beveridge’s care and accuracy in use of sources has been evident. All footnotes are my own

explanatory notes not Beveridge’s, and [square brackets| generally indicate editorial clarifications, except a

very few uses for clarification or addition by Beveridge himself.

THE TRANSLATION

Ev axpowuevorg — |En Akro-omenis: among the hearers| Here first the holy fathers remind us of the three
grades of penitents; remind us, I say, since they do not determine these but consider them determined
beforehand, everywhere received, and known to everyone; and they instruct that those who have lapsed of
their own accord should all pass through these before they can be received into the communion of the
Chutch: that they should complete at least three years among the axpowpevor [Akro-omeni: hearers], and

seven among the vnonintovieg [epopaptontes: those falling before]?, and besides this they should participate

! Except on two occasions where text and translation appear to diverge.

2 Beveridge offers two Latin terms, subjacentes or substratos; the former is the equivalent of vzomzrovreg, the latter means “those lying before” or
“those prostrated”. See VII below.
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for two in the prayers with the faithful, but without any offering, that is they should be considered part of
the ovviotdpevor [sinistament: those who stand with]. When, incidentally, we peruse the Nicene fathers, they
recognise only three grades of penitents. But St. Basil in canons 24, 56 and several others seems to
enumerate four grades of pentitents, before those three mentioned here adding the npooxiaiovteg
|prosklaiontes: those who weep or wail]. To us, these seem not propetly to be penitents, but rather
Candidates for penitence, that is to say, those who are not yet admitted among the penitents by the
Church, but rather, standing at the entrance to the Church, beg as supplicants with wailing and tears those
who are coming in that they should no longer be kept out of the sacred limits of the Church; but
professing their penitence publicly, they are considered by the Church also as penitents; and thus placed in
the number of those who may at least be permitted to enter those sacred doors. Seeing that it has come
into usage that these should be considered among their number, I think I may enumerate four grades of
penitents — TEOGUAXIOVTES, AXQOWPEVOL, VTOTUTTOVIES, & CUVIOTAUEVOL [the wailers, the hearers, those falling
before, and those who stand with]. It is necessary that we explain distinctly how all these show the earliest
teaching of the Church embraced in them, in this work, even if [it exists] elsewhere. We shall however
never |be able to] give effect to this with the clarity it deserves except by putting a description of the
ancient temples first: which indeed is [needed] not just for this statute, but for other similar statutes in
which the grades of penitents are considered; indeed, this will bring a clear light on many other places and
statements in this work. Indeed no work was ever published from which the form of ancient Churches
could be elicited more clearly and certainly than from this which we now publish: so much so, that it
would almost be enough on its own for describing these things, if nothing else survived. What people see
here, dispersed through the whole work and as they occur separately, would seem pretty obscure and not
easily understood; but collected together in order they appear obvious, in wondrous fashion, and they
elucidate each other. Therefore we shall collect here in one place, secking it out from all those other
places, the material which we consider necessary for explaining these matters: so that we explain many
parts of this work here at the same time together in one go, which we can explain neither cleatly nor easily

if they are left separate from each other.

I The ancient Churches or temples built by Christians in antiquity, then, were divided into three
main parts, of which the first from the entrance was called Nap0nZ [Narthex: narthex|, the middle Naog
[Naos: nave] or Exsdnoio [Ekklesia: church] proper, and the third, most sacred of all, Bnypo [Bewa:
sanctuary, lit: step] & Ovolaotnptov [thysiasterion: altar]. This was previously observed by Symeon of
Thessalonica: “In another Council, that the whole holy temple [vadg] should be considered divided threefold, into the places
in front of the temple, into the temple itself, and into the bema or sanctuary” (Sym. Thess. On the Temple). And this
layout of each Church was not by chance or luck, but was thought out with the greatest prudence in the
first place and introduced to common usage. Of those, then, to whom it falls to enter these holy shrines at
stated times, there are three kinds. Some are initiates in holy matters and so they enter to administer with

their gifts and to perform the holy rites: others are not consecrated but are still the faithful, and these
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unite there to be present as the rites are celebrated and to earn the desired fruits from them: to others

however the gathering of the faithful is forbidden, as they are not yet baptised or are excommunicate for

some graver offence in which they were taken. For this reason, it is necessary — so that these three groups

of people should not be confused, and thus confusion arise in the celebration of the holy rites itself —

appropriate places be assigned to each group. The priests thus claim the sanctuary for themselves as the

holiest place: the faithful are grouped in the Church itself. To the rest, who are either kept separate or not

yet baptised, the lowest part of the Church is granted, called the narthex, so that they might hear the word

of God read and thus eventually turn out worthy to be received into that gathering of the faithful. That we

may delineate the true form of the ancient Church, we must separate it into the three parts. The

“Ichnographia” (=ground-plan) shows these, and others which are relevant to a fuller description of the

ancient Church.

ICHNOGRAPHIA
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II [Numbered 11 in error]. On this ground-plan of an ancient Church, so that they may be more
obvious and clear, we have inscribed the names which the ancient Christians gave to each place. That we
might explain the whole and the individual parts more distinctly, let us begin our journey from the
common entrance. So, at the foot of the ground-plan there occurs first the nponvAatov [propylaion: porticol,
by which name the portico of the Church is called (by Zonaras, On the Carthaginian Synod can. 46). Here,
outside the initial entrance of the Church, stood the “wailers”, clad in poorer garments, and begging with
wailing and weeping all the faithful who entered the Church that they would pour out prayers to God on
their behalf, that they might at least be permitted to enter the Church. That they should stand weeping
outside the doors not only of the Church proper, but of the whole oratorium |place of prayer?], teaches
Gregory Thaumaturgus [the Miracle-Worker| who, describing the grades of penitents, says: ““There is wailing
outside the door of the place of prayer, where the sinner must stand and beg the faithful as they go in, that they should pray for
him.” (Greg. Thaumat. can. 11). Basil the Great attests the same, can. 56 & 57. Harmenopulus the
Scholiast* [writes|: “Wailing is standing outside the Church begging those going in to pray for yor”’ (Harmenopulus,
Epitome of the Canons, .5, title 3). Hence Basil the Great says of those who swear Greek oaths, “Lef then be
glected for three years, that is, let them be “wailers”, who alone are ejected completely from the Church;
whence he also calls them adéxtovg |adektons: un-received] — can.81; also Gregory Nyssenus, “outcasts from
all prayer” (can.4), & “those driven out from the Churcli” (can.5). Tertullian himself appears to have written
about this kind of penitent, when he says: “And do you also lead the penitent into the Church to beg the
brotherbood’s forgiveness for adultery, prostrating bim in their midst covered in ashes, arrayed in shame and horror, before the
widows, before the elders, nrging everyone’s tears, kissing everyone’s feet [or footprints], clinging fo everyone’s knees?’
(Tertullian, Oz Modesty c.13) and elsewhere “Concerning dress and food, too, it> requires that [the penitent] lie in
sackeloth and ashes, cover bis body with filth, throw down his spirit with lamenting, to exchange harsh treatment for those
things in which he has sinned; to know none other than simple food or drink, not for the stomach’s sake but for the soul’s:
and mostly, indeed, to feed prayers with fasting, to groan and weep and moan day and night to the Lord God: to throw
himself at the feet of the elders and to kneel to God’s dear ones, to enjoin all the brothers [to be] ambassadors [before God]
Jor bis prayers.” (idem, On Repentance, c.9). Thus then, as they wail, they enjoin all the brothers going into
Chutch [to be] ambassadors for their prayers. Eusebius also passes down an example of this kind of
weeping (Ecclesiastical History, book 5, ¢.28). So, these wailers stand outside the Church, and indeed outside
the mpovaog [pronaos, foreconrd], as [Theodore| Balsamon observes when he says they are “wailing ontside the
Jorecour?” (on can. 87 of [the Synod of] Trullo), and on can.2 of Dionysius of Alexandria; evidently in the
portico, or sometimes in front of it, as is to be understood from the notes of Zonaras on the Carthaginian
Synod, can. 46, where he says, “For this reason the Rule orders that hands be laid on them ontside the Church and they

should be put together in the ranks of the penitents, so that they stand together and wail outside the holy walls.” — that is, in

3 T have used “place of prayer” throughout as a translation, rather than “oratory”.
4 Scholiast — one who makes marginal notes; a scholarly commentator.

5 It = (the act of) repentance, or exomologesis.
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front of the apse, which is the same as in front of the portico. And where they are allowed to watch is
called the “portico” or aic [apsis: apse], or sometimes the TpoadMov [proanlion: courtyard] or npdOveov Tov
voov [prophiron tou naon: vestibule of the nave], and sometimes even simply the a0\ [av/: courtyard]. Now,
this place is not really sacred, but common to all: Balsamon, “for are not the forecourts common, as if the
courtyards of the churches?’ (Balsamon, on can.2 of Dionysius of Alexandria). There was therefore some kind
of platform or vestibule into which the Catechumens and penitents sent out of the Church would come
together, and where they were accustomed to await the departure of the faithful: and hence it was always
roofed so that those taking refuge there could protect themselves whether from the heat of the sun, or

from the rain.

111 Now that we have covered the portico, next on the ground-plan occur the peyahow ndho [megalai
Pylai: great doors], that is to say the largest doors of all, which lead to the first and lowest part of the place
of prayer, which is called the Narthex and npovaog [pronaos: fore-nave]: of this, there are very frequent
mentions in The Triodion, The Typikon, The Euchologion, and other books of the same kind. This place is
sometimes said to be located within, sometimes without, the Church, doubtless as the word “Church” is
misused in one or another sense. Sometimes indeed “Church” signifies the whole place of prayer, and
then indeed the Narthex is part of it: but sometimes “Church” is taken strictly as the place in which the
Faithful gather, as we shall soon show; and in this sense the Narthex is rightly considered [to be] outside
the Church. Here, nearest to the doors and therefore in the lowest place in the Narthex, was the otaotg
TV KT OVUEVWY [stasis ton catechumenon: stationS of the catechumens]. When these had heard the sacred
Scriptures read, and a sermon prepared for teaching them, there would be a shout from a Deacon
“Catechumens, leave!” And immediately they left the limits of the Church. With these, however, we shall

deal in more detail in [the commentary concerning] the 14t Canon of this Synod.

v Here in the Narthex, near the Catechumens, the ysipolopevor [chaimezomeni’] seem to have had
their station in ancient times. The Synod at Ancyra [Ankara] ordered those who, devoid of sense, have
had sex with animals, and those who are leprous, in place of punishment “to pray among the Hybernantes
[over-wintering]” (Syn. Aneyr. can.17). From this no-one should doubt that these yeipalopevor will have
stood outside the Church propetly so described, and accordingly in the Narthex. Why the yestpalopevor
there were so called is not as yet agreed among scholars. Balsamon contends that all who stand there in
the Narthex are called yewpalopevor, “those who stand in the narthex are clearly called yepalduevor, and those who
hear the holy writings have a place apart from the yewaldusvor, and these are not licensed to enter the doors of the church for

salvation”. Yet perhaps here yeipalopevor by exchange should signify the same as “hearers”. Some

¢ T have used the old-fashioned “station” for this, to retain the sense of standing, though “position” would be a perfectly reasonable alternative.
Beveridge too sometimes uses Latin “statio” as a translation.

7'The active verb = those who go into winter-quarters, find shelter for the winter or (by extension) from foul weather; literally, then, in the passive
sense, these are those with or in whom someone “over-winters”: basically, the “possessed” as Beveridge goes on to explain. The Latin hibernantes,
however, is active not passive; and the Greek could be a “middle” voice — intransitive or reflexive, again implying “wintering” or perhaps “storm-
tossed,” rather than being possessed. Hence the uncertainties Beveridge explores. I have kept yetpalopevor in Greek through this section, in order
to avoid jumping one way or the other in the translation; but elsewhere use “possessed” as reflecting Beveridge’s own view.
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however, as Balsamon & Zonaras in the same place observe, have asserted that the ysipalopevor there are
the same as the datpovwvrar |daimonontas: possessed by demons|: although this opinion doesn’t appeal to
them, it does very much so to us; thus indeed Aristenus [says|, “the yewaldusvor, according to the great
Dionysins, are those who are possessed by an evil spirif”’. So too Maximus, in the notes to the book Oz #he
Ecclesiastical Hierarchy falsely attributed to Dionysius the Areopagite, often explains evepyobuevol |energumen:
acting rashly or violently] with yetpalopevor. Also, Harmenopulus the Scholiast on the said Rule of the
Ankaran Synod says, “be calls those possessed by demons also yewaldusvor, as some say” (Harmenopulus, Epitome of
the Canons, s5, c3). And so these are called Daemoniacs or Energumeni in The Euchologion itself,
“vewaldusvor by unclean spirits”. So it should not be surprising that sometimes they are called more briefly
yerpollopevor, with the remainder undoubtedly left understood; just as in the words evepyodpevor and
Arreptiti |=raving].® So indeed Dionysius Exiguus translates yetpalopevol in the said Rule, “zhose who are
tested by an unclean spirit”’, and Isidore Mercator [pseudo-Isidore], “those who are tossed by a storm, who are called
by us Energument”’. And it is provided by Can. Apost. 79 that men of this kind should not pray with the
taithful, saying “sf someone has a demon, let him not become a clergyman, nor let him associate with the faithful”. As it is
not permitted therefore for these people to pray together with the faithful, it is necessary that another
place in the Church be assigned for them, where they are able to pray. The faithful pray in the Church
proper: demoniacs therefore could have had a station nowhere else than in the Narthex. In the Narthex
also stood the Catechumens, by the great doors, and the Hearers by the beautiful doors — of which more
below. There is therefore no other place in the Narthex for the yeipalopevor or demoniacs except that
middle ground left between the Catechumens and the Hearers, where we have therefore rightly and
deservedly placed the otaoig twv yetpalopevwy [stasis ton chaimazomenon: station of the possessed| on the
ground-plan. Indeed this decision of ours on the station of the yetpalopevor or “energumeni” in the
Narthex is excellently confirmed by the author of the said book O# the Ecclesiastical Hierarchy — whoever he
was. As it is certain that book was published either at the time of this Council or immediately afterwards,
so it is equally certain that it was not written by Dionysius the Areopagite to whom it is no less falsely
than commonly attributed. In it there are three kinds of people who are not admitted to participate in the
sacred mysteries, and they are constantly listed in the same order — Catechumeni, Energumeni, and
penitents: “zhe custom of the holy hierarchy allows the catechumeni and energument, and those who are in penitence, to hear
the sacred singing of the psalms, the divine recitation of the sacred scriptures, but brings together to bebold the sacred works
and mysteries which follow successively not them but the perfected eyes of those who are worthy.” (Eccl. Hierarch. ¢.3) Also a
little before when he said that, in the sacrament of the gathering or communion of the saints, the reading
of the books is recited by the ministers, he adds “After that, the catechumeni are ejected from the sacred precinet,
and after them the Energumeni and those who are in penitence; those remain who are worthy of seeing and participating in
holy matters” (ibid). From these, we collect not only that these three categories of people were driven out to

the narthex when the mysteries begin to be celebrated — the Catechumeni, Energumeni and penitents; but

8 Evepyovpevot simply means “acting energetically”, but carries the sense of acting angrily, madly or violently; “arreptiti” likewise means “seized”
with the sense of being seized by madness.
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also indeed in what order they left, that is, first the Catechumeni, then the energumeni, and last the
penitents, and no doubt they left in the same order in which they had taken up position, thus the
Catechumeni nearest to the doors went out first, and the Energumeni followed them, and the penitents
followed these, as [they were] furthest from the doors. So when the Synod of Ankara orders lepers to pray
among the yetpalopevoy, it places them in the middle of the Narthex between the penitents and
Catechumeni. This place was near to the yeipalopevor or evegyovpévor, and therefore is written with those
on our ground-plan; and we call it the “station of the possessed” rather than of the evepyovpévo; since
there is no mention of their station in the Church in this work as far as I recall except in the said Canon of
Ankara where they are called yetpalopevor; where, although it is not expressly recorded, it is clearly
pointed to as being outside the Church proper that they remain and pray, otherwise there would have
been no act of penitence: in which part of the Narthex it was, is clear from what was said above. Indeed, it
had been usual to locate them nearly in the same place as the baptistery; which is represented there by us
and called the xohoufnOpo [columbethra: pool or font], because it is commonly called thus by the Greeks,
and indeed by Zonaras himself on can. Apostol. 50, and also in ancient times by Cyril of Jerusalem, who
says “thereafter, you are led to the holy pool for godly baptisn” (Cyr. Jer. Mystagogic Catecheses 2) & elsewhere “and
Just as for you having risen up from the pool of holy waters, an anointing is given, a copy of that with which Christ was
anointed” (ibid., Mystagogic Catecheses 3). This name seems to have been allotted from that famous pool or
piscina in which the blind man, at Christ’s command, washed and returned able to see? (John 9.7), or from

the pool of Solomon (ibid., ch. 5.2).

A% Farthest from the entrance, but therefore pre-eminent in the narthex, is the place assigned to the
“hearers”; surely these are the penitents of whom the Nicene fathers speak in the first place in this present
Canon!?. Gregory Thaumaturgus teaches us that they indeed were located in the narthex, saying “Hearing is
[done] inside the gate in the narthex, where he who has sinned must stand, even while the Catechumens |do so], and go out
from there. Indeed, after listening,” he says, “fo the scriptures and teaching, he should be ejected and not considered worthy of
the prayers.” (Greg. Thaum., can.11). “While the Catechumens [do so]”, that is, while the Catechumens
remain in the narthex, with whom these should leave - Matthew the Monk, or Blastarers, [says| “The
hearers, standing within the doors in the aforesaid narthex, affer listening to the holy writings and the [time of?] teaching,
then go out with the catechumens” (Blast. in letter M |of the Syntagma'?|, Concerning the places of repentance). Hence
Zonaras regarding this Canon, “The hearers”, says “zhey stand outside the church in the narthex”. This is indeed
outside the Church correctly described, insofar as it is distinguished from the narthex. And in the same

111

way Balsamon on the present Canon also asserts, and precisely, that they “stand outside the nave”. Even if
“nave” sometimes signifies the whole temple, when we speak strictly and accurately — as surely we must
speak when we are dealing with these matters — it denotes just the middle part of it, assigned to the

faithful, and separate from the narthex just as from the sanctuary. And in that same sense Balsamon uses

O wohopBnOow [columbethra) or piscina means literally “(swimming) pool”.
10 See the opening paragraph above.

11 Blastares’” Syntagma was a collection of ecclesiastical constitutions arranged in alphabetical order.
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the word “nave” in discussing canon 14 of this Synod, and frequently elsewhere. Indeed he calls the
narthex zpdvaov [“tore-nave”), saying “The fore-nave is the place of the second repentance, understood as that of the
hearers” (Bals. On Dionysus of Alexandria, Canon 2). And we learn that the hearers stood nearest to “the
nave”, that is Church proper, from Aristenus’s interpretation of this Canon, where it is said the Hearers
“stand at the Royal gates”. So indeed are called the doors (as we shall soon show) which lead from the
narthex into the nave; so that the Hearers were allowed to stand in the very entrance to the Church, which
was forbidden to the possessed and the Catechumens. Whence indeed the “station of the hearers” is

obviously placed rightly by us next to the nave on the Ground Plan.

VI If we cross from the narthex into the nave, the way in is through the “beautiful gates” [or doors].
Whence Codinus [Kodinos| [says|, “Outside the gates called ‘beantiful’, that is in the fore-nave’2.”” (Codinus, On the
Offices’ of the Palace of Constantinople, chapter 15). In The Euchologion, frequent mentions are made of these
gates: e.g. “the priest with the deacon stands inside the beauntiful gates” (Concerning the order of the Holy Ministry) and
later “he goes out into the narthex, and after censing all those there, he returns in through the beantiful gates” (ibid.). They
are also called the royal doors, or gates, and also in the singular, the royal gate. In The Typicon, |it says|
“going ont into the narthex, and after censing the brothers within be retires, going inside of the royal gate”” And Marcus
Hieromonachus |[“the holy monk™] [says|, “and censing again, coming ont from the holy doors, and returning within
the royal gates” (M. Hiero. On Uncertainties in the Typicon', chapter 46). And so these two names of these
gates are frequently interchanged, sometimes being called “beautiful” and sometimes “royal”. Aristenus

calls these “royal portals”, as was observed earlier.

VII On entering the Church proper, or nave, first we meet the “station of those falling before”
behind the lectern.!> That this, to recall some things earlier [said] about it, is in the middle of the Church
between the beautiful and holy gates, and directly opposite the altar, just as is set out by us in the Ground-
Plan, Symeon of Thessalonica offers us surety, saying, “zhe lectern is placed in front of the doors of the
sanctuary” ', and later “the most holy sanctuary is placed to the eastward, and the lectern placed opposite” (Sym. Thess.
On the Sacrament). And Codinus (Kodinos) [says|, “The Ewmperor descends from the lectern not on the side from which
he went up to it, which is the side looking toward the beautiful gates, but on the other side opposite the thrones'” and holy
sanctuary” (Codinus, On the Offices of the Palace of Constantingple, chapter 17), where I might also observe that
there are two stairways to the lectern, one looking towards the beautiful, and the other towards the holy,

gates; and that the Emperor also sometimes goes up to the lectern, which is also allowed to the Canon-

12 Beveridge translates the Greek “fore-nave” into “narthex” in his Latin.
13 In a typographical error, Beveridge’s text refers to the “eff[ecta?]” not “off[icia]”.
14 The Typicum Monasterii S. Sabae Hierosolymitani (the Ritual of the Monastery of St. Sabbas in Jerusalem).

15 On Beveridge’s Ground-plan, those “falling before” are only “behind” the lectern as seen from the sanctuary. Coming in from the narthex, the
lectern is behind them, not the other way round. On the lectern, see also section X below.

16 Beveridge’s Latin translation of this says “the lectern is set up out of sight, in part of the sanctuary”.

17 Solea — see section X below.
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singers by Synod of Laodicea, rule 15. Further, on the backward!? side of this lectern, that is between the
lectern and the beautiful gates, there was the “station of those falling before”, as Balsamon observes in the
notes on this Rule: “Those falling before are to stand within the Church, bebind the lectern, and to go out with the
Catechumens’. Zonaras and Aristenus [writing] on the present Rule also agree with him, also Matthew
Blastares: “Those falling before are those who stand within the church, bebind the lectern and go out with the catechumens
when the acclamation W hoever is a catechumen...’ is made by the deacon” (Blastares in letter M); Harmenopulus the
Scholiast: “The one falling before’, standing within the church bebind the lectern, goes out with the catechumens”
(Harmenopulus, Epitome of the Canons, section 5, title 3); and above all Gregory Thaumaturgus: “Those
falling before’ are those who stand within the door of the nave, and go out with the catechumens” (Greg. Thaum. canon
11). These indeed seem to be called “those who fall before”!8 for this reason, that before they are
dismissed, they would fall before the Bishop, who himself with the people falling down and immediately
rising again would place his hands upon them. This indeed Sozomen too reports to have been observed
formerly particularly in western Churches, saying “There guite in the open is the place of the penitents in which they
stand sadly, as if grieving. When the liturgy of God has been completed, they are excluded from the communion of the saints
[from which it is the custom to forbid the initiates, and they throw themselves prone on the ground with groans and laments;
then the Bishop, coming up from opposite them in tears, equally himself falls to the ground howling, and the crowd in the
whole Church confesses at the same time, with tears pouring down. After this, the Bishop is first to get up, and mafkes those
who are prostrate stand up, and after making an appropriate prayer for those sinners performing penitence, he dismisses
them.” (Sozomen, Ecclesiastical History, book 7, ch.16) No one argues that the penitent here discussed by
Sozomen were indeed “those falling before”. Since this name “falling before [Greek]/lying before [Latin]”
is attached to this third grade of penitents only, it clearly follows from this that only those penitents are
indicated by Sozomen who are appointed to this third grade, and they are therefore called by this special
name, “those falling before”, because they alone publicly “fall down before” the Bishop and Church. And
this indeed seems [to be] the same grade of penitence which Master!® Cyprian often calls é€op.ordynotg
[excomologesis: confession]. He reports that, for any penitent to be received back into the communion of the
Chutch, three things were required in his own time: penitence itself, “exomologesis”? (confession), and
the laying-on of hands. “When penitents do penitence for minor sins,” he says, “at the right time and according to the
rule of discipline, let them come to ‘excomologesis’, and by the laying on of the Bishop’s and clergy’s hands they may receive the
right of communicating: but in earlier times when persecution was still persisting?! and peace had not yet been restored to the
Chureh, they were admitted to communion and their name put forward when they had no yet done penitence, not yet made
‘excomologesis’, not yet had the hands of Bishop and clergy laid on them; and the Eucharist was given to them.” (Cyptian,
letter 10 to the clergy). And elsewhere, “That they — contrary to the rule of the Gospel, contrary also to your

honourable request, before doing penitence, before making confession for their most grave and extreme fanlt, before the hand of

18 The Greek word can also mean “lapsed”, but this doesn’t seem appropriate for those progressing closer to redemption.
19 Beveridge uses the title “D[ominus|”, which I have rendered as “Master”.
20 Beveridge Latinises the Greek word, rather than translating it.

2! 'The ungainly “persecution ... persisting” is Beveridge’s.
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the Bishop and clergy had been laid on them for their penitence — [that they] should dare to offer peace to those who had fallen
and 1o give them the Eucharist, which is to profane the sacred body of the Lordl” (idem., letter 112! to martyrs and
confessors). And again, “For minor fanlts which were not committed against the Lord, let penitence be done at the right
time, and confession made; yet even when the life of the one who does penitence has been inspected, no-one should be able to
come to communion unless first hands are laid on him by the Bishop and the clergy” (idem., letter 1221 to the brethren
among the people). In all these places in Master Cyprian we may observe that what was formerly
demanded of sinners by the Church was, first penitence, then confession, yet still when this was done they
were not admitted to communion before the Bishop and clergy had laid their hands on them. There, by
“penitence” it seems both the wailers and the hearers are to be understood; and by confession those
falling before, since this confession, or public confession, of faults in the Church, was customarily
performed by penitents prostrate on the ground before the Bishop and clergy and the whole Church; and
also since in the words of Master Cyprian confession always follows penitence, no less than vrontwotg
[ypoptosis: humbling] follows axpowaaotg [akroasis: being heard]. So from this — that communion was not
granted to them immediately, not before the laying on of hands by the Bishop and clergy had happened,
which could be deferred by several days or even months — from this, I say, we gather that a fourth grade
of penitence, namely obotootg [systasis: standing with|, was in those times in use: for immediately after
“exomologesis” they were able to stand with the faithful in the Church, even if they were not yet allowed

to communicate; and thus at that time then they truly were ouviotduevol [synistament: those standing with].

VIII  [Numbered V11 in error] So, at the entrance to the Church or nave, namely behind?? the lectern
until the exit of the catechumens, stood those falling before; in the remaining part of the Church proper
stood the faithful praying, and together with them those who composed this fourth grade of penitents,
who are therefore called “those standing with”, since they stood together with the faithful, nor did they
leave with the catechumens like the rest of the penitents. Gregory Thaumaturgus: “Standing with’ is standing
with the faithful, and not going ont with the catechumens.” (Greg. Thaum., rule 11); Harmenopulus the Scholiast:
“Standing with, is praying with the faithful, but also a position unworthy of the sacraments”” (Harm., Epitome of the
canons, section 5, title 3); and Blastares: “Those standing with’ are those who pray together with the faithful and sing,
but abstaining from participation in the sacraments with the holy until, when the prescribed time comes for them according to
the laws, their perfection receives them into holy communion.” (Blastares in the Syntagma, letter M) — the interpreters
on the present Rule agree on these matters. Whence it is certain that even if those “standing with” are not
named clearly in this Rule, they are obviously indicated in those last wotds, “for two years without oblation let
them accompany the crowd in the prayers”. These words contain the complete definition of “those standing
with”: just as, indeed, those of the Synod of Ancyra (Ankara), “for two years they should pray without oblation”
(Synod of Ancyra, canon 24), and those of Hincinar [archbishop| of Rheims, “Some are commanded to remain
in the Church up until the sending-out of the catechumens; others however to join in the prayer of the faithful only within the

Chureh, during the sacred celebration of the mysteries, but to be kept apart from the meal of the Lord’s table.” (Hinc.,

22 See note 15.
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Letter to Hinemar of Laon, chap. 24, cited by Justel. “Those standing with” thus stood together with the

communicant faithful; but they were not allowed to communicate together with them.

IX On both sides of the Church, right and left, is shown on the ground-plan an épolog [embolus:
rostrum; probably here “porch”]. It should not seem surprising to anyone that the “porches” have been
thus situated by us, though all others have recorded the contrary. They are placed in these places? by us
because of what we read in The Euchologion, that when the priest has washed the holy table, “Ounce again going
out on the right side of the sanctuary though the right-hand porch he betakes himself into the narthex:” these words are
considered [to describe] what happens in the normal rite for the fifth day?* [Thursday] in the cleaning of
the holy table: from which it is clearly represented that there were two “porches”, a right and a left, and
that both were thus located so that the Priest could depart through them from the Sanctuary into the
Narthex, and in fact from the right or left-hand door of the sanctuary (about which we shall soon speak);
but then he did not wander through the Church itself, inasmuch as he used to go back into it not through
the right or left one, but through the “holy doors”. Yet this could not have happened unless the
“porches” had been set in those positions in which they are described by us. There is also mention of the
right-hand “porch” in the Acts of the eighth general Synod where it says: “#he book containing in order the
eighth synod was written down in [or, ... the eighth synod written down, (was) in] the right-hand porch of the great church”.
Indeed that very Synod seems to have been celebrated in one of these porches, and that the right-hand
one. For in almost any Act the Emperor is said to have sat down before them in Synod “in he right-hand
part of the nave of the great church”’ ?5 (where also incidentally it should be noted, the nave has been
distinguished from the Church taken in its broad sense). Therefore it was not celebrated in the nave itself;
but “in the right-hand part of the nave’, which could be nowhere else but where the right-hand “porch” is

shown by us.

X Let us now cross from the Church to the Sanctuary. This latter is separated from the former by
some wooden panels, which are generally called noyuéhhot [cancelli: screens| and nywAideg |cinclides: railings];
by Nicephorus Callistus “#he priestly railings” (Ecclesiastical History, book 12, ch.41); by Cantacuzenus
(Kantakouzenos) “holy railings”; by Cytil of Scythopolis in The Life of St. Sabbas, ““railings’: and in the Life of
St. Euthymius just once “a screer”. They are also called “nets [made] from wood’, Eusebius (Ecclesiastical
History, book 10, ch.4); by Germanus also in The Mystagogia, “(small) columns’ and “parapets”. He says indeed
“the columns or parapets separating the samctnary from the rest of the nave, and the screens are a kind of preventative from
going through”. They are also called xaynehwtat [cagelots: screens] or “cancelli”, and by Sozomen “gates
[Opvpaxtal of the priesthood”’. And his words are most worthy of note. He says, “I# used to be the custom, that the

Emperors wonld stand between the partitions of the altar in the Church, separated for dignity’s sake from the multitude of

23 The ungainly repetition is, again, Beveridge’s.
24 “The great fifth day” — perhaps Holy (Maundy) Thursday?

25 Beveridge’s Latin translation has “in the right-hand part of the Temple of the great Church”.
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the people. Ambrosins notes that this happened from flattery or the corruption of teachings, and assigns to the Emperor a
position in the Church in front of the altar-screens, so that just as the Emperor should have precedence over the peaple, so the
Priests should have precedence over the Emperor in the Church. The Emperor Theodosins approved this remarkable directive,
and bis successors subsequently confirmed it; and from that time to this day we see it being observed.” (Sozomen,
Ecclesiastical History, book 7, ch. 25). So from these words an end, unless I am mistaken, can be made at last
to the complex question which has hitherto exercised the minds of the learned: what, after all, was the
“soleus” |“throne”] which was so often mentioned by more recent Greek writers, and what function
would it have had in the Church? All of them agree that there was something, particularly in the more
recent Churches of the Greeks, called owhelay, owlay, owketov and even coléav, coliov or corstov [all
variant spellings of “soleon”, the Greek form of “Soleus”], which was placed near the screens. They all agree,
too, that this is a Latin word, and most that this was nothing else than the so/ium, but what this so/inm was
they ingenuously say they don’t know, unless it was what Jacques Goar affirms was called by that name,
the solium Christi, the “throne of Christ”. But ’'m amazed that those words of Sozomen which are cited
above did not come to mind for any of those working on this, in which Master Ambrosius is said to have
assigned to the Emperor a place in the Church in front of the altar-screens. The place where the Emperor
was accustomed [so/itus] to sit would rightly and most deservedly be called the So/ium. From the times of
Ambrosius forward, as appears from the words quoted, the throne of the Emperor was in front of the
screens where all with one voice are in accord that the so/ium was placed. So this therefore was without any
doubt the throne or seat of the Emperor. That this form of throne had been erected Cedrenus (Kedrenos)
offers proof, saying “When the Holy Basin of God’s great Church collapsed, with its fall it crushed the lectern and
thrones, which were made of Onyx stone, and turned them into dus?’. So the throne together with the lectern was
wrecked ahead of any other parts of the Church by the fall of the Basin at that time; which could not have
happened unless it had been built next to the lectern. And it was made of onyx in order that it should
better suit the majesty of the Emperor. There is indeed something else worth noting in those words of
Cedrenus: it says there thrones in the plural, whence we conclude that there were not one but several
thrones in that Church, at least two. Doubtless the throne of the Emperor was in front of the screens on
the right side of the holy gates; it seems that another in imitation of it may have been placed at the left,
and assigned to the Sub-deacons and Readers. That these indeed had their own “throne”, Symeon of
Thessalonica is a witness, saying “Sub-deacons and Readers should sit ontside the sanctuary, aronnd the throne which is
also called the Readers’ platforn?>?6 (Sym. Thess., Concerning the Sacraments); and The Euchologion, which says
“the two Deacons, leaving the holy sanctuary, receive the Deacon to be ordained standing at the throne”. Doubtless when
the Emperor’s seat, placed by Master Ambrosius in front of the screens between the holy and northern
gates, had gained the right to be called a “throne”, so too the seat of the Readers on the other side of the

screens, or between the holy and southern gates, came by common usage to be called a “throne” also,

26 Beveridge differentiates in his Latin translation of Symeon, saying “outside the bewa ... Readers’ #ribunal” — though Symeon’s Greek uses Bnpo —
meaning literally “platform” — for both: “outside the frua ... Readers’ fua”. Nevertheless, at the beginning of XII, Beveridge uses “tribunal” as the
Latin form of “sanctuary”.
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particularly as it was set up close to that one. So it seems that the Readers’ thrones were nothing else than

that place in the Church from which those men usually read out the sacred Scriptures to the people.

XI Moving on, in those screens or windowed partitions, preventing ingress but not seeing, entrances
were left leading from nave to sanctuary which are called mohou [pylaz: holy gates] or 60por, and sometimes
00ow [thyrai/ thyria: holy doots|. The Euchologion in “Concerning the Order of the Holy Ministry” says “Affer
censing again the holy icons, be leaves through the holy doors and censes the holy table”, and after a few other things,
“the priest, after closing the holy doors, goes within the holy sanctuary”. This entrance is not continuously open, but
only at certain times which are listed in The Euchologion: “Be it known that the holy doors should never be gpen
except at the beginning of the great vespers, when the Priest mafkes the incense give off its odour, at the introit of certain
ceremontes, namely vespers and the liturgy for the holy Gospel; and similarly from the words “Draw near” right to the end of
the liturgy, they stay oper”’. And the ancient practice obtains, that on these doors in particular a veil should be
hung, which in The Euchologion is called BnuoOvpov [bemothyron: sanctuary door] where indeed it is said “zhe
priest goes into the holy sanctuary, and putting on [off?] bis stole opens only the sanctuary door”” (Euchologion, ibid).
Thus too Manuel Malaxus in his Ecclesiastical History states that the Patriarch Jeremiah made, among other
things in the temple of the Pammakaristos?’, “a great ‘sanctuary door’, exquisite and of great worth”. It is more
often, and indeed more correctly, written BnAdOvgov [belothyron: door-veil]: Codinus (Kodinos), “#he golden
door-veils covering the ramps(2)” (Cod. On the offices of the Palace of Constantinople, chapter 17). Gulielmus
Bibliothecarius [William the Libratian| in /Pope/ Stephen V1 says, “And he made in the same Basilica of the famous
doctor of the peoples four belothyra, of which one was woven of gold”’. Of course, more recent Greek writers have
made the Latin word velum their own, writing it SyAov [belon)|?8: Suidas, “The curtain, the drape, commonly called
the fnhov”. From adoption, then, of the word ve/um, with the correct Gvga [door], they form SyAdOvpov [door-
curtain]. A scholiast of Aristophanes on The Frogs, mentions both, saying “zhe scenery was curtained with Persian
veils or door-veils”. The veil was of the kind which Epiphanius tore when he found it in the entrance of the
church at Anabletha, because of what was painted on it, “i# had an image as of Christ or some sainf’; as he

himself testifies in his Lezter to Jobn, Bishop of Jerusalem, which survives among the works of Master Jerome.

XII Farthest from the first entrance, and holiest of all in the whole Church is the place called Bypa,
[Bema: sanctuary; Latin #ribunal). So it is called by Balsamon On the Trullan Synod. can. 69, saying “But even
women (come) to the holy sanctuary”; so too in [Council of] Chalcedon, canon 15. It is also so called by the
Laodicean Synod, rule 56, and in the notes of Balsamon and Aristenus relating to that canon, and often
elsewhere through all of this work, and also in The Euchologion, “the priest closing the holy doors stands within the
holy sanctuary” (Euch. “Concerning the Order of the Holy Ministry”). And so it is commonly called by the
Greeks: it is called also Ouotxotnptov [#hysiasterion: altar], doubtless so named from its largest part, e.g. by

Syn. Laod. can. 44; by the Trullan Synod ““the sacred altar”’ (can. 69); and elsewhere in this work, equally in the

27 Beveridge writes it in Greek, napporapiotog [pammakaristos: ever-blessed).

28 Note the “post-classical” Greek softened beta --> veta.
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canons and very frequently in the notes — more often indeed than |it is called] Bnpo [Besza]. But these two
names of the most well-known part of the Church are frequently interchanged. Hence, Theodorus of
Studium entitled his poem written about this place “To the holy altar [Qvoractijpiov]” but in that poem he uses

the word “sanctuary” [frua], elegantly declaiming:

Terrible is this sanctuary and full of fear,

The nave of the luminons God, accessible to the pure.
Come there in holy fashion and take part worthily,
For the gift of fire will burn the unworthy.?

It is called the wepatetov |hierateon: lit: priesthood, hence “priest’s place”?] in The Euchologion, & by Sozomen
(Ecclesiastical History, bk. 7 c. 25); Nicephorus Callistus bk. 12 c. 41 [calls| it thaotnplov [bilasterion: mercy-
seat|, also the Typicon of Saba — “you should cense crosswise over the holy table, and likewise the whole mercy-seat”
(Typ. Sab. c. 5). Finally, it is also called Oetov advtov |theion adyton: holy sanctum| by Balsamon O #he
Trullan Synod rule 69, and simply o advta [#a adyta: the sanctuary| by Nicephorus Callistus in the place
previously cited. Nor would you be in error, if you called it sanctum sanctorum [holy of holies]. It is not
permitted for women to enter this most holy place (Laodicean Synod rule 44), nor any of the Laity, nor
even the Emperor except when he intends to offer gifts to the Creator (Trullan Synod rule 69), but only to
Priests or consecrated persons (Laodicean Synod rule 19). So we might reasonably say with Symeon of
Thessalonica, that the Temple “does not have everything accessible to everyone, but some parts for the priests and some
Jor the laity” (Sym. Thess. On the Temple). In our days — oh how sad! — in which heaven and earth seem to
have got mixed up, everyone enters this holy sanctuary quite freely, contrary to what was established
scrupulously by the primitive Church. But this pitiable ataia? [afaxia: disorder| in divine matters
Balsamon observed to have been accepted even in his own times, and says he himself does not know the
reason for it, “how then into the holy sanctum of the celebrated church of our Lord Jesus Christ which is in Chalce, anyone

who wishes can go in unhindered, I do not know” (Balsamon, On the Trullan Synod rule 69)

XIII  As the Sanctuary is the most important part of all in the whole Church, so “the holy table” is in
the sanctuary itself: since this is consecrated to carrying out the most sacred of all the mysteries in a
specific way, and serves to do so. Cleatly it is often called the altar in this work, as in Apostolic rule 3,
Synod of Carthage rule 10. And so it is called by St. Basil, letter 72 to the Evaiseni. More often it is called
by the Greeks the “sacred [iepog; hieros| table”, as Trullan Synod rule 32, and “holy [aytog: hagios] table™:
Euchologion “the deacon going inside the holy sanctuary censes the holy table” (Euch., Concerning the Order for Holy
Ministry); Marcus Hieromonachus “and thus he leaves through the mpoOéarg (prothesis: preparation-space3!) again
mafking a cross on the holy table” (Marc. Hiero., On Uncertainties in the Typicon, chap. 46); Symeon of

Thessalonica “going in, be censes the sacred table in a circle” (Sym. Thess., On the Temple). Other examples occur

2 Tambic no. 44, in the Patrologiae Cursus Completus edition.
30 Beveridge uses the Greek word, which from Classical times implied impiety as well as disorder.

31 See section XVI.
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everywhere, though Nicephorus Callistus calls it the “divine [Oetog: #hedos| table” (Ecclesiastical History, book
12, chap. 41). St. Athanasius, or some other writer (clearly ancient, if not of the same period) who is the
author of the debate held against Arius in the Nicene Council, explains “table” by “altar”, as if by a better-
known word, saying “preparing the table, that is the holy altar, and on it the heavenly and imperishable bread”’. Now,
this sacred, holy, or divine table or altar, the ancients usually made from stone; Symeon of Thessalonica
gives the reason for this, saying “T'he altar is of stone, because it recalls Christ who is named the rock, and onr
Jfoundation, and the keystone, and cornerstone: and becanse the rock which once gave Israel water was the depiction of this
table’ (Sym. Thess., On the Temple). Formetly this “holy table” was supported frequently by an altar-stone32
placed underneath, either carved from a single stone, or built up from several: more often by one or
several (generally four) columns, as we may gather from the office usually used for the dedication of a
temple, in which we read the statement, “Lez columns hold up the table just like those prepared for a tomb, [set] on
the ground, with the space between the colummns pointing to the East. But if an altar-stone supports it, whether carved from a
single stone’3 or put together from several in a casket made by an Artist, then [let it be] in the middle of the altar-stone,
[pointing to] that part of it which looks straight at the ‘clergy seats*’. And soon after, “ A/ these things happen, since
the table is supported by several or by one single colummn.” Germanus of Constantinople distinctly records four
columns, saying, “The holy Fathers made the vault, which is above the sacred table, like heaven: becanse the holy ground
is enclosed and circumscribed by its four columms (this is called the “ciborium’” [canopy]), as they define the bounds of the
whole earth’ (Germ. On the Mystagogues). And that this holy table, which at all events was just behind that
place where the present?® Synod of Nicaea was held, was usually at the time supported by columns,
Synesius too is a witness — who in The Catastasis®® describes, in a speech no less elegant than melancholy,
the terrible disaster of the “Five Cities” (the “Pentapolis”), saying “I shall embrace the consecrated columms which
hold the undefiled table up from the ground; there I shall sit while I live, and I shall lie when dead’ (Synes. On the
Catastasis). Therefore these columns holding up the sacred table, using simple intelligence as they say and
where alone it could be put on the picture, we represent on the ground-plan. And above it we have placed
a cross; without which no altar is ever said, in nearly any Church, and particularly a Greek one, to have

been erected for many ages past; even if I can recall no ancient Synod which determined this.

XIV  Located at the back of the altar, in the curve of the sanctuary, is shown on the ground-plan the
Ooovoc [thronos: throne], viz. that of the apytepeug [archierens: high-priest]. In this generally the Bishop sits,
and he alone is allowed to sit. Concerning this we have said more in our annotations to Apostolic Canon

59 where in the notes on Balsamon it is said that “seats for the bishops are set up in the sanctuary at the top [or, on

321 have translated a/tare as “altar”; ara (the classical word) or Bwpog [bomos|as “altar-stone”.

33 The Greek is wovohbog [monolithos], monolith. [Note: Beveridge seems unsure or indiscriminate about the gender of the word “/pis” (stone): “ve/
una lapide excitata ... sive unico lapide excitata”).

3 See X1V below.
35 This entire section of the Synodikon is embedded within Beveridge’s discussion of the first Nicene Synod.

36 Or, the Downfall of Cyrenaica.
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high[”. Please see the commentary that we have given on those words.?” Here I would like it to be
observed further that on each side of the Bishop’s throne is placed a o0vOpovov [syuthronon: lit. with-the-
throne, here rendered “clergy seats”38] for the Priests; under this name can indeed be comprehended the
throne itself and several others, so that “clergy-seats” can signify the seat of the Bishop itself as well as the
seating of the Priests; and in this sense it is very often used in The Euchologion, as in the rite for ordaining a
Bishop: “then he who ordained embraces him who has been ordained, so do the other bishops, and when the common
greeting bas finished they ascend to the clergy-seats”, where it can be seen that the whole Synod of Bishops
gathered together for the ordination of the Bishop ascends to the clergy-seats. And that the Priests indeed
are seated on the clergy-seats is clear from very many places in The Euchologion; Balsamon (On the Apostolic
Canons 58) and Blastares (in letter D, chapter 7) support this, and — to pass over others in silence —
Symeon of Thessalonica who says “Sitting on the holy ‘clergy-seats’ the Bishop, imitating Christ, has his Co-bishops
and Priests sitting with bim, imitating the Apostles”. (Symeon Thessalonicensis On the Temple). We should
additionally understand canon 56 of the Synod of Laodicea to be about this sitting together, where it
cautions that the Priests should not sit in the sanctuary before the entry of the Bishop. Hence this clarifies
that the clergy-seats are there indicated, because they are said to be in the sanctuary: and they are therefore
sometimes called the “holy clergy-seats” so that they can be distinguished from the other [places of]
sitting together on the Church or nave. That all these things which we have described in the sanctuary up
to this point (which are worth the closest observation) formerly existed in the Church of the “Five Cities”
(Pentapolis), is abundantly evident from the words of Synesius himself, for he says “Firsz I shall go into the
temple of God, then I shall go round the altar; I shall drench?® the most precious pavement in tears. I shall not leave before I
have kissed the door and the throne. O how often shall I call on the faith of God, and turn my face to him?¢ O how often
shall I throw my hands onto the screens?” (Synesius, On the Catastasis). Remarkable words indeed, in which nearly
everything related to the sanctuary is mentioned: the doors or holy gates leading from it, the screens, the
altar, and also the Priest’s throne. Whence it is obvious that all those things there mentioned were also in

public use and common acceptance in the days of Synesius.

XV Two other places remain, adjacent to the sanctuary, the Awnovinov [Diaconicon: vestry| and the
ITpdBeotg [Prothesis: preparation-space], which we must deal with briefly. The vestry is located at the right-
hand side of the Priest sitting on his throne, looking westward, and the preparation-space at the left.
Hence that part of the Church on which the vestry is positioned is called the right-hand part or the »\itog
[£/ytos: north aisle]; and where the preparation-space is, is called the left-hand part or south aisle. Indeed
mention of both north aisle and right-hand side occurs everywhere in The Euchologion: so, ““he leaves [the
sanctuary| together with the Priest by the northern aisle” in “The Order of Holy Ministry”. And in the liturgy of
Chrysostom, “The Priest and Deacon make three adorations [genuflections] before the holy table: then the Priest hands to

37 1n Beveridge’s commentary on canon 58; not translated here.
38 The Greek term is singular, but its use clearly shows the singular term embraces several seats “with the throne”.

31 have assumed Beveridge meant “perfundam”, though he prints “pertundam” = I shall perforate.
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the Deacon the sacred Gospel he bas received, and so leaving by the door on the northern side they come to their usnal place.”
From these it is at the same time made very clear that, on the said northern side, there was a door leading
from the sanctuary, where the holy table [was]. Inasmuch as the Sanctuary is always built at the east end of
the Church, and the Bishop sits in it looking back to the westward, the north must always be on the right,
and the south on the left; and thus it happens that right-hand part signifies the same as north aisle, and
left-hand part the same as south aisle. Following these [witnesses], the vestry is placed on the right-hand
or northern part of the Sanctuary on the ground-plan, as we gather also from Symeon of Thessalonica
who, providing information about connecting a Bishop, says “He s led away from the vestry, and with the
Deacon preceding him and two Priests leading, through the right-hand part of the temple and ‘solea’ [platform #°] up to the
Sanctuary” (Sym. Thess. On the Sacraments). From the vestry therefore he is led through the right-hand side
of the Temple, and across the platform (which indeed is placed in the right-hand part of the Temple in
front of the screens, as we have noted above), to the Sanctuary itself; surely from the vestry into the right-
hand porch [epBorog: embolos] , as described by us, and thus immediately through the door placed there,
into the temple itself, and thus then across the platform and through the holy doors into the Sanctuary
itself. This is confirmed by The Euchologion itself, where in the order usually used for the purification of the
altar it is said “The muost holy Patriarch descends into the ‘mesatorinm™!, or vestry, and he goes out to the holy altar or
sanctuary by the right-hand side, and the purification of the holy table is performed.” In the words of Symeon of
Thessalonica cited eatlier, the Bishop descends from the vestry through the right-hand part of the temple
into the sanctuary, and in these [words] he goes directly from that same vestry to the sanctuary, and this
from the right-hand side of the sanctuary; where therefore the door is rightly shown on the ground-plan.
From the words of The Euchologion, it is indeed clear that the vestry is sometimes called the
“mesatorium”; thence it is also called by Cedrenus [Kedrenos] “mitatorium”; he says of Leo, son of Basil
of Macedonia, “Therefore for this reason the Patriarch forbade the Emperor entrance to the temple: for which reason he
came into the ‘mitatorium’ by the right-hand side”, and afterwards, “The Emperor advanced publicly into the great
Church, and came into the ‘mitatorium’ in which place he prayed’. (Cedrenus On Leo). Even if the Emperor was
not allowed to go into the Church or the sanctuary, yet he betook himself through the right-hand part of
the temple (that is, through the right-hand porch) into the “mitatorium” or vestry, and prayed there.
Hence it is clear that the vestry was separated off from the sanctuary itself just as much as from the
Church proper, as indeed is described by us. But someone might say, for whose use then did this vestry
server Here, I admit, the opinions of the learned diverge: yet I cannot but be amazed at this, since it is

obvious from the name itself [“diakonifkon”] that it was assigned to the Deacons; and to the Deacons for

40 Defined in Stephanus thus: Pars templi, quae Bemati obversatur, quae uno aut altero gradu aedis sacrae pavimento eductior est: cuinsmodi est solea aedis Sophianae
etiamnum binis gradibus inter utramque pilam orientalem elevatior ... Substructio, stylobatis, columnis, epistyliis, ceteroque architectonices elegantis specioso apparatu
coronatam, quae in templis Graecorum magnificentius ornatis, vice ligneorum cancellorum ac velorum, aram maximan et presbyterinm ab ingressu inspectuque populi
tegebat, deinde spatinm quoddam isti substructioni contiguum. (A part of the temple which faces the Sanctuary, and which is one or two steps higher than
the pavement of the sacred altar; the “solea” of the church of St. Sophia is of this type, higher by two steps between the two eastern pillars ... A
structure, crowned with stylobates, columns, epistyles, and other beautiful fittings of elegant architecture, which in the more magnificently-
decorated Greek temples [which have] wooden screens or veils, hides the high altar and the presbytery from the sight and ingress of the people;
and hence, whatever space is adjacent to this structure). The solea (in a modern Orthodox church) is a part of the raised platform of the
“sanctuary” which extends outside the iconostasis. Here, I have used the term “platform” to translate it, although the Greek “platform” is the
“bema” or sanctuary. Beveridge continues to use the Greco-Latin “solea” without translation.

4 Often the “metatorium” in Greek usage.
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what purpose, unless to perform their functions in it? Doubtless so that they could store there the sacred
vestments which are needed in celebrating the mysteries. This can be adduced from the fact that in
various editions of the Liturgies the vestry and the oxevogpuldutov [skedophylakion: store for utensils,
sacristy] are widely used as synonyms. And we should understand beyond a doubt in this way concerning
the vestry, whatever others produce to the contrary, canon 21 of the Laodicean Synod in which it is
decreed, “That the ministers should not have room in the vestry nor touch the sacred vessels.” In these last words is
given the principal reason: namely, they should not have room in the vestry, because they are not allowed
to touch the sacred vessels stored there. Hence Dionysus Exiguus interprets this canon [as being] about
the secretarium |hiding-place, secret recess|, describing it thus, “That the Sub-deacons might be remote from the
vestry, that is the Secretariuns”’. The Council of Agde, too, as if explaining and renewing that same canon,
decreed “Since unconsecrated ministers onght not to have the freedom to enter the Secretarium, which the Greeks call
Diaconion’, and to touch the vessels of the Lord.” (Council of Agde, canon 66). These are the very same words in
which Isidore the Merchant [=Pseudo-Isidore]| translates into Latin the said canon of the Laodicean
Synod; except that he rightly reads “Diaconicon”, in place of “Diaconion” here. The “secretarium” was
indeed the same as what we have called the “Diaconicon” or vestry, where plainly the garments and
sacred vessels were kept. It is thus used by Fortunatus (book 1 of the Life of St. Radegund the Qneen), saying,
“Entering the Secretarinm she put on her monkish garments”. Also by Bede, where he says “Gregory was indeed buried
in the Church of the blessed Peter the Apostle, in front of the Secretarinm, on the 12 of March” (Bede, History of the
English-speaking Peoples, book 2, chap. 1) where King Alfred interprets Secretarium as “husel portice” in
Anglo-Saxon (meaning, the “Porch of the Eucharist”) — as the Saxons called the place where the
Eucharistic vessels used to be kept: which in English we call the Vestry,*2 from the Latin word
“vestiariun/’, which also Master Augustine uses, saying “And as we eat from one cellar, so we put on our garments
from one vestry” (Augustine, Letter 109 On Holiness*3). By more recent Latins this is commonly called the
Sacristia |Sacristy], in which those things are to be kept following the use of the Roman Church, as

individually listed by the fourth Council of Milan.

XVI  Finally, on the southern side of the Sanctuary, we have placed on the ground-plan the [Tpofeotg
[Prothesis: preparation space].** That this, contrary to what others have thought, is a place distinct from the
sanctuary, no less than the vestry, is clearly gathered from these words of the Liturgy of St. [John]
Chrysostom, “And blessing the people, he enters the sanctnary. After the dismissal, if there is no Deacon, the Priest enters
the preparation-space and consumes what is left in the holy chalice with attention and devotion, and thrice washes the holy
chalice, and makes sure that no particle remains, called ‘margarita’”” The Priest therefore entered the preparation-
space, and this from the sanctuary, from which it is clear not only that the preparation-space is separated

from the sanctuary, but indeed that an entrance is open leading from the sanctuary to the preparation-

42 Beveridge uses an “old English” typeface for these words.

4 From the Rule of Augustine (chap. 5, para. 30), rather than from his letters. Note that some translate this as “from one cellarer ... from one keeper of
garments”, i.e. reading “cellarins ... vestiarius” (a person) rather than “cellarium ... vestiariun?’ (a place) as Beveridge clearly reads it.

4 Since Beveridge treats the vestry as also the sacristy, I have had to fall back on “preparation space” for the prothesis.
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space; just as it is described by us: in fact, quite often the route from the nave into the sanctuary went
through the preparation-space. Marcus Hieromonachus confirms this, saying, “And be censes one [side]
beginning from the holy doors, and proceeding to the Royal doors doing the same on them as on the other [side]. Afterwards
he leaves through the northern door censing everyone there, just like in the temple. When he has made an end of censing, and
has entered the temple, he signs a cross in front of the royal doors, likewise in the navel*> or middle of the temple, and likewise
at the other doors. When he bas entered the sanctuary, he censes the president again, and thus passes through the preparation-
Space again making a cross on the holy table.” (Marc. Hiero. On Uncertainties in the Typicon, chapter 46). So from
the temple he entered the Sanctuary through the preparation-space, certainly “by the left-hand side”,
where the entrance is therefore placed by us on the ground-plan, first from the temple into the porch, and
then from the porch into the preparation-space, and finally entry is made from the preparation-space into
the sanctuary. Further, in this place the Priest or the Deacon drank what was left in the holy Chalice, after
all the faithful had communicated; as is clear from the words of the Liturgy of St. [John| Chrysostom
praised above: here indeed the Deacon puts down the holy disc [of bread] before it is distributed to the
people; as we learn from the same Liturgy, which says “Then receiving the holy disc he places it above the Deacon’s
head, and the Deacon, taking it up with reverence, looking back outward towards the door and saying nothing, goes out into
the preparation-space and eats it up.” And indeed from Symeon of Thessalonica who says “affer this taking the
holy gifts out into the preparation-space” (Sym. Thess. On the Temple). Here too the Priests and Deacons wash
their hands before the consecration of the Eucharist: Liturgy of St. [John| Chrysostom, “Then going out into
the preparation-space they wash their hands.” And here finally they prepare the sacred rites, as is clear from the
same Liturgy. This place the Latins call Oblationarium (offering-place); whence in the Roman Rite we read
“In it, the Archdeacon takes up the offerings for the Priest from the “oblationarium”, that is the Preparation-space, and gives
it to the Priest”” And indeed some place of this kind, formerly called preparation-space and “offering-place”,
on one side of the sanctuary, no less than the sacristy or vestry on the other, is still now generally placed
so in our Churches, especially the more famous ones: and it will be clear to anyone who compares them
with those which we have heretofore sketched out, that they also have been built on the old design as here

described and drawn by us.

45 “Umbelicus”, navel.
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